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Win Hanverky Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries are an integrated 
manufacturer and retailer for international sports, fashion and outdoor brands. 
We have two broad lines of business, namely Manufacturing Business and 
High-end Fashion Retailing Business, with geographical markets spanning over 
Europe, the United States, Mainland China and Hong Kong.

The Shares of the Company have been listed on the Main Board of the Stock 
Exchange since 6 September 2006.
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KEY FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR THE LAST FIVE YEARS

For the year ended/As at 31 December

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Financial Performance (HK$’000)
Continuing operations

Revenue 4,136,603 4,021,402 5,034,359 4,109,572 3,481,229
Gross profit 998,991 964,901 1,453,147 1,155,818 979,794
Operating (loss)/profit (50,877) (47,068) 209,468 214,595 122,630
(Loss)/profit before income tax (82,639) (82,431) 174,139 209,661 124,553

(Loss)/profit from continuing operations (69,634) (83,785) 125,108 157,162 110,180
Loss from discontinued operations — (104,728) (51,360) (99,934) (85,280)
(Loss)/profit for the year (69,634) (188,513) 73,748 57,228 24,900
(Loss)/profit attributable to equity holders (66,416) (233,821) 64,214 42,253 21,045

 

Financial Position (HK$’000)
Non-current assets 1,456,973 1,422,418 1,754,873 1,317,815 1,077,339
Current assets 2,488,284 2,396,612 2,589,052 2,076,675 1,877,919
Current liabilities 1,781,008 1,696,581 1,810,505 1,198,331 685,154
Net current assets 707,276 700,031 778,547 878,344 1,192,765
Total assets 3,945,257 3,819,030 4,343,925 3,394,490 2,955,258
Total assets less current liabilities 2,164,249 2,122,449 2,533,420 2,196,159 2,270,104
Total equity 1,942,651 1,968,346 2,113,325 2,184,654 2,264,587
Cash and bank balances 415,819 695,088 486,623 355,053 424,809

 

Operation Indicators
Gross profit margin  

from continuing operations (%) 24.2 24.0 28.9 28.1 28.1
Net (loss)/profit margin from continuing  

operations (%) (1.7) (2.1) 2.5 3.8 3.2
Net gearing ratio (%) (Note) 27.3 10.2 25.5 5.9 N/A
Current ratio (times) 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.7 2.7
Trade receivable turnover period (days) 44 49 42 40 46
Inventory turnover period (days) 143 138 105 99 107

 

Note:  Net gearing ratio represents total borrowings (including bank borrowings and loans from non-controlling interests of subsidiaries) less cash 
and bank balances, divided by total equity.
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BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

In 2021, the Group has experienced another challenging year. The ongoing impact of COVID-19 pandemic 
(“COVID-19”), especially the new wave of COVID-19 variants, is complex and severe, resulting in significant 
disruption to the operating environment, particularly in the second half of 2021.

Revenue of the Group from continuing operations amounted to HK$4,136.6 million (2020: HK$4,021.4 million), 
representing an increase of 2.9%, despite that the ongoing widespread of COVID-19 has continued to make the 
operating environment extremely difficult and unpredictable. Against this backdrop, the Group’s Manufacturing 
Business and High-end Fashion Retailing Business remained stable.

Manufacturing Business experienced another tough year though the issue changed from customer demand in 
2020 to production supply in 2021. Sportswear Manufacturing Business was back on the right track as orders 
received from customers for the United States market regained a growth as demand was driven by the return 
of sports events, as well as increasing health awareness of the general public. However, a number of orders 
could not be fulfilled as the productions of our Vietnam factories had been temporarily suspended resulting from 
government-administrated lockdowns and raw material supplies were disrupted due to the new wave of 
COVID-19 variants in the second half of 2021. High-end Functional Outerwear Manufacturing Business was also 
affected by the temporary factory production suspension and raw material supplies disruption, but these were 
outweighed by the substantial progress of business development in the Mainland China market. Revenue from 
Manufacturing Business amounted to HK$2,928.2 million (2020: HK$2,781.6 million), representing an increase of 
5.3%.

High-end Fashion Retailing Business was adversely affected by the new wave of COVID-19 variants that struck 
a handful of cities in Mainland China since late July 2021, despite the fact that revenue growth momentum 
picked up in the first half of 2021. Revenue from High-end Fashion Retailing Business amounted to HK$1,208.4 
million (2020: HK$1,239.8 million), representing a decrease of 2.5%.

Gross profit margin of the Group from continuing operations remained stable at 24.2% (2020: 24.0%). Gross 
profit increased by HK$34.1 million to HK$999.0 million (2020: HK$964.9 million), 3.5% higher than that of the 
preceding year.

As a result, despite that the Group has generated profit after taxation of HK$27.3 million in the first half of 
2021, it has been adversely affected by the new wave of COVID-19 variants and inevitably incurred loss after 
taxation of HK$96.9 million in the second half of 2021. Therefore, the Group recorded an overall loss after 
taxation of HK$69.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: loss of HK$188.5 million).
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OUTLOOK

The global economic outlook is continuously clouded by the ongoing COVID-19 and mixed with the recent 
conflict between western countries and Russia. We foresee that the operating environment will be complex and 
surrounded by uncertainties.

Manufacturing Business experienced a tough suspension period in the second half of 2021 and the production 
capacities of the Vietnam factories had already been resumed to normal. Our long-standing well-established 
relationships with existing internationally renowned customers have secured us in a well position on facing the 
complex environment and the customers have honoured the orders already placed. No significant order 
cancellation or reduction was noted and the orders would be fulfilled from late 2021 to early 2022. In addition, 
we have a strong order book on hand and customer demand has been robust. In light of the better vaccine 
position in the respective countries where our production facilities are situated, the governments will adopt “live 
with virus” policy and it is unlikely that they will impose further lockdown. New impetus will be brought in and 
we are cautiously optimistic about the business opportunities.

High-end Fashion Retailing Business will continue to focus on the Mainland China market, although the Chinese 
government has imposed new measures since mid March 2022 due to the latest wave of COVID-19 variants, it 
is considered that their measures will be highly effective to stop the spread. We estimate that the impact to the 
retail stores in Mainland China will be short and temporary.

Notwithstanding the uncertainties facing ahead, we remain confident in the Group’s prospects and optimistic 
about the business opportunities in the long term. We will closely monitor the developments of the dynamic 
environment in order to achieve sustainable growth of our diversified businesses.

DIVIDENDS

The Board considers to conserve our financial resources and does not recommend the payment of dividend in 
order to prepare for the volatile operating environment ahead. We will continue to monitor the market situation 
and review our dividend payout from time to time.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Finally, I would like to thank our Directors and the whole team for their dedication, ongoing commitment and 
perseverance. Once again, we have demonstrated resilience during the extremely difficult time. My gratitude also 
goes to our clients, shareholders and business partners for their continued confidence, full support and 
enduring trust.

LI Kwok Tung Roy 
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2022
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The Group is an integrated manufacturer and retailer for internationally renowned sports, fashion and outdoor 
brands. The financial performance of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 is summarised below:

OVERALL REVIEW

Revenue of the Group from continuing operations amounted to HK$4,136.6 million (2020: HK$4,021.4 million), 
representing an increase of 2.9%. The Group’s Manufacturing Business and High-end Fashion Retailing 
Business remained stable under the extremely challenging operating environment.

Gross profit margin of the Group from continuing operations remained stable at 24.2% (2020: 24.0%). Gross 
profit increased by HK$34.1 million to HK$999.0 million (2020: HK$964.9 million), 3.5% higher than that of the 
preceding year.

Selling and distribution costs remained stable at HK$615.1 million (2020: HK$614.0 million).

General and administrative expenses increased by HK$8.2 million to HK$439.4 million (2020: HK$431.2 million), 
which was mainly attributable to increase in expenses incurred for disinfection and pandemic prevention 
measures as well as no further exemption or subsidies relating to COVID-19 from the local governments in the 
regions where the Group operates.

An operating profit of HK$49.3 million was reported in the first half of 2021 and an operating loss of HK$100.2 
million was incurred in the second half of 2021, resulting in an overall operating loss of HK$50.9 million (2020: 
loss of HK$47.1 million). The significant change in the second half of 2021 was due to the outbreak of 
COVID-19 variants in South East Asian countries and Mainland China, Manufacturing Business had been 
severely affected as the productions of the Group’s factories in Vietnam had been temporarily suspended and 
raw material supplies had been disrupted while High-end Fashion Retailing Business was adversely affected by 
the decrease in revenue and gross profit as a result of higher retail discounts offered to motivate customer 
spending.

Net finance costs decreased by HK$4.0 million to HK$32.1 million (2020: HK$36.1 million), which was mainly 
attributable to the decrease in interest on bank borrowings by HK$10.2 million as a result of decrease in 
interest rates.

The Group disposed of e.dye Business, which had been regarded as discontinued operations, in August 2020 
and as such no further loss was incurred in 2021 (2020: loss of HK$104.7 million).

Overall, the Group recorded loss after taxation of HK$69.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: 
loss of HK$188.5 million).

The Board considers to conserve financial resources and does not recommend the payment of dividend for the 
year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil) in view of the challenges and uncertainties ahead. We will continue 
to monitor the market situation and review our dividend payout from time to time.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The impact of COVID-19 is complex, resulting in significant disruption to the operating environment. The 
Group’s Manufacturing Business and High-end Fashion Retailing Business have been impacted by the new 
wave of COVID-19 variants, particularly in the second half of 2021.

Despite that the ongoing widespread of COVID-19 has continued to make the operating environment extremely 
difficult and unpredictable, the Group recorded a mild increase in revenue from continuing operations by 
HK$115.2 million or 2.9% to HK$4,136.6 million (2020: HK$4,021.4 million) and an increase in gross profit by 
HK$34.1 million or 3.5% to HK$999.0 million (2020: HK$964.9 million). The Group’s Manufacturing Business and 
High-end Fashion Retailing Business remained stable under the challenging operating environment.

The financial performance of the business segments is summarised below:

Manufacturing Business

Our Manufacturing Business comprises “Sportswear Manufacturing Business ” and “High-end Functional 
Outerwear Manufacturing Business ”.

Following the COVID-19 containment measures imposed by the local authorities and for the benefit of the 
well-being and safety of the employees, the productions of the factories in Vietnam and Cambodia had been 
temporarily suspended in 2021. In particular, the factories in Vietnam, which contributed 33.6% of the total 
revenue and 48.5% of the revenue from Manufacturing Business for the year 2020, had been suspended from 
mid July to early October 2021. The total operating loss resulting from the temporary production suspensions of 
the factories in Vietnam and Cambodia was HK$116.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2021.

After a tough suspension period, the production capacities of the Vietnam factories had already been resumed 
to normal in November 2021. Our long-standing well-established relationships with existing internationally 
renowned customers have secured us in a well position on facing the complex environment and the customers 
have honoured the orders already placed without significant cancellation or reduction. In addition, the better 
vaccine position in the respective countries where our production facilities are situated will protect themselves 
from imposing further lockdown.

Sportswear Manufacturing Business

The Group’s Sportswear Manufacturing Business operates mainly through its OEM arrangements for a number 
of internationally renowned brands. Most of the Group’s products are exported and sold to Europe, the United 
States and Mainland China. The Group has a long history and a distinctive position in sportswear garment 
manufacturing and has established long-term business relationships with its key customers.

Revenue from Sportswear Manufacturing Business increased by HK$22.6 million to HK$2,413.2 million (2020: 
HK$2,390.6 million), representing an increase of 0.9%. The increase was mainly due to the increased orders 
received from customers, in particular, demand from the United States market recovered from a significant 
decline in 2020. The demand for sportswear products was driven by the return of sports events after lockdown, 
as well as increasing health awareness of the general public. However, a number of orders could not be fulfilled 
as the productions of the Vietnam factories had been temporarily suspended resulting from government-
administrated lockdowns and raw material supplies were disrupted due to the new wave of COVID-19 variants 
in the second half of 2021. Having said that, no significant order cancellation or reduction was noted and the 
orders would be fulfilled by the Vietnam factories after resumption from late 2021 to early 2022.
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An operating profit of HK$29.4 million was reported in the first half of 2021 and an operating loss of HK$89.4 
million was incurred in the second half of 2021, resulting in an overall operating loss of HK$60.0 million for the 
year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: loss of HK$59.9 million). The significant change in the second half of 
2021 was due to the outbreak of COVID-19 variants in South East Asian countries while the productions of the 
factories in Vietnam had been temporarily suspended as well as the raw material supplies were severely 
affected which dampened the recovery path in the second half of 2021.

High-end Functional Outerwear Manufacturing Business

Revenue from High-end Functional Outerwear Manufacturing Business increased by HK$124.0 million to 
HK$515.0 million (2020: HK$391.0 million), representing an increase of 31.7%. It was mainly attributable to the 
significant growth of orders received from domestic customers since the successful business development in the 
Mainland China market. However, a number of orders from European customers could not be fulfilled as the 
productions of Vietnam factories had been temporarily suspended and raw material supplies were disrupted due 
to the new wave of COVID-19 variants in the second half of 2021. Nonetheless, no significant order cancellation 
or reduction was noted and the orders would be fulfilled by the Vietnam factories after resumption from late 
2021 to early 2022.

An operating loss of HK$17.7 million was incurred in the first half of 2021 and an operating profit of HK$13.4 
million had ben achieved in the second half of 2021, resulting in an overall operating loss of HK$4.3 million for 
the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: loss of HK$8.9 million). It was mainly attributable to the gross profit 
brought in by the increased revenue from the Mainland China market and partially offset by the temporarily 
suspension of productions of the factories in Vietnam.

High-end Fashion Retailing Business

The Group’s High-end Fashion Retailing Business had fashion retail networks through “D-mop ” and “J-01 ” 
stores to sell self-owned brands, as well as imported brands, in Hong Kong and Mainland China. In addition, it 
had distribution rights for brands including “Y-3 ” in Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan and Singapore 
and “Heron Preston ” in Mainland China. It also operated licensed stores for brands “Champion ” and “DAKS ” 
in Mainland China and “New Era ” in Mainland China, Hong Kong and Macau.

Revenue from High-end Fashion Retailing Business decreased by HK$31.4 million to HK$1,208.4 million (2020: 
HK$1,239.8 million), representing a decrease of 2.5%. Although the revenue growth momentum picked up in the 
first half of 2021, it was adversely affected by the new wave of COVID-19 variants that struck a handful of cities 
in Mainland China since late July 2021. As such, revenue from High-end Fashion Retailing Business decreased 
from HK$644.5 million in the first half of 2021 to HK$563.9 million in the second half of 2021.

An operating profit of HK$37.6 million was reported in the first half of 2021 and an operating loss of HK$24.2 
million was incurred in the second half of 2021, resulting in an overall operating profit of HK$13.4 million for the 
year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: profit of HK$21.7 million). It was mainly attributable to the decrease of 
revenue as mentioned above and decrease of gross profit margin resulting from the higher retail discounts 
offered to motivate customer spending. In addition, in view of the anticipated adverse impact on the market 
performance as a consequence of the latest wave of COVID-19 variants, an impairment loss of HK$6.3 million 
(2020: HK$47.0 million) was provided for the retail store assets in Hong Kong and Mainland China.

As at 31 December 2021, the total number of stores increased to 264 (2020: 233), of which 228 (2020: 192) 
stores were in Mainland China, 26 (2020: 31) stores were in Hong Kong and Macau, and 10 (2020: 10) stores 
in Taiwan and Singapore.
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PROSPECTS

The operating environment in 2022 will remain volatile and complicated. It is anticipated that COVID-19 will 
continue intermittently to impact lives and businesses around the world exacerbated by the complex and 
changing geopolitical landscape in Europe. Against the backdrop of the dynamic environment, we are 
well-positioned to overcome the obstacles along its way. Looking ahead, we will remain agile and vigilant by 
promptly adjusting our operational mode and making swift responses to minimise the impact.

Manufacturing Business

Sportswear Manufacturing Business

Increasing vaccination rates around the world allow economic activities to pick up, while many countries are 
transitioning from strict lockdowns to less disruptive measures leading to increase in consumer consumption 
and production output.

Furthermore, with the accelerating global awareness for health and wellness, increasing sports participation 
rates, as well as the return of large-scale major sports events, demand for sportswear products is anticipated to 
increase in the long run.

We will continue to explore new initiatives to further enhance operational excellence in order to embrace the 
complexities of the challenges ahead. We will resume the development plan for our new factories in Vinh Long, 
Vietnam to cater for the medium to long-term needs of our customers.

High-end Functional Outerwear Manufacturing Business

High-end Functional Outerwear Manufacturing Business made substantial progress in the Mainland China 
market, it has successfully established strategic partnership with national wide renowned brands in Mainland 
China. In terms of market potential and consumer demand, Mainland China will continue to be an important 
market and it is anticipated that the revenue growth momentum in the Mainland China market will continue and  
outpace other markets.

High-end Fashion Retailing Business

Mainland China will remain as the major market of our High-end Fashion Retailing Business. Although the 
Chinese government has imposed new measures since mid March 2022 due to the latest wave of COVID-19 
variants, it is considered that their measures will be highly effective to stop the spread. We estimate that the 
impact to the retail stores in Mainland China will be temporary and we are cautiously optimistic on the 
development of our business in this market.

In other markets, the impact arising from COVID-19 to our stores in Hong Kong, Macau and Singapore is 
severe. As such, we will continue to maintain promotional activities to stimulate local customer spending but 
unavoidably the profit margin would be affected. On the other hand, we will negotiate with landlords again for 
rental reductions in order to minimise the impact. We will also continue to prudently assess the profitability of 
the retail stores across the region and subject to the outcome, certain retail stores would be closed when 
necessary.
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FINANCIAL POSITION AND LIQUIDITY

The unprecedented pandemic of COVID-19 that is raging worldwide has made the operating environment 
extremely difficult. In view of the challenges and uncertainties ahead arising from another new wave of 
COVID-19 variants, the Group will continue to proactively monitor the situation and impose strict cost control 
measures and focus on its cash flow management to ensure that it remains a healthy liquidity position. As at 
31 December 2021, the Group had cash and bank balances of HK$415.8 million (2020: HK$695.1 million) and 
net borrowings (bank borrowings and loans from non-controlling interest of subsidiaries less cash and bank 
balances) of HK$530.7 million (2020: HK$201.6 million), together with available undrawn banking facilities of 
HK$457.2 million (2020: HK$693.1 million). The net change was mainly attributable to net loss incurred in the 
second half of 2021 and raw material purchases for production resumption in order to fulfil the orders honoured 
by the customers under Manufacturing Business. The net gearing ratio (being net borrowings divided by total 
equity) as at 31 December 2021 was 27.3% (2020: 10.2%).

The Group expects that there will be steady cash inflow from operations, coupled with sufficient cash and bank 
balances and based on its readily available banking facilities, amid of COVID-19 continues to impact the 
Group’s operations, the Group has adequate liquidity and financial resources to cover its operating costs and 
meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due in the coming twelve months from the date of this 
annual report.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

Hong Kong Dollar (“HKD”) serves as the Company’s functional currency and the Group’s presentation currency. 
The Group considers its foreign currency exchange exposure arising from United States Dollar (“USD”) 
transactions and USD cash balances to be minimal during the year given that HKD was pegged against USD.

The Group’s revenue and purchases were primarily denominated in USD, Renminbi (“RMB”) and HKD. During 
the year, approximately 53.2%, 41.8% and 3.3% of revenue were denominated in USD, RMB and HKD 
respectively, whereas approximately 80.1%, 16.0% and 3.3% of purchases were denominated in USD, RMB and 
HKD respectively.

As at 31 December 2021, approximately 61.1%, 27.5% and 7.5% of cash and bank balances were 
denominated in USD, RMB and HKD respectively, and approximately 52.6%, 39.6% and 7.8% of bank 
borrowings were denominated in HKD, USD and RMB respectively.

To minimise the impact of foreign currency rate volatility, we monitor foreign currency risk closely on an 
ongoing basis to ensure that the net exposure is at an acceptable level. If necessary, after consideration of the 
Group’s future operation and investment needs in different currencies, we may use proper financial instruments 
to reduce the currency risk exposure.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had approximately 19,000 employees (2020: approximately 19,000 
employees). The Group remunerates employees based on their performance, working experience and prevailing 
market conditions. Other employee benefits include retirement benefits, insurance, medical coverage and share 
option schemes.
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CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, bank deposit of HK$1.2 million (2020: HK$1.2 million) was pledged as security 
deposit at Custom Department for a subsidiary of the Group; and land and properties with an aggregate 
carrying amount of HK$55.1 million (2020: HK$57.5 million) were pledged to banks for certain banking facilities 
of the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no significant contingent liabilities, litigation or arbitration of material importance as at 
31 December 2021.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND 
JOINT VENTURES

The Group had no material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the 
year ended 31 December 2021.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

LI Kwok Tung Roy, aged 71, is our executive Director, co-founder and Chairman. He was appointed as an 
executive Director in December 2005. Mr. LI is the elder brother of Mr. LEE Kwok Leung and the father of 
Mr. LI Chun Ho Fredrick. Mr. LI is responsible for strategic planning and overall management of our Group. 
Mr. LI has over 45 years of experience in the apparel industry and handling client relationship.

Mr. LI is currently the director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He is also the director and shareholder 
holding 70% interest of Quinta Asia Limited, which has an interest in such number of shares of the Company 
under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance as disclosed in the section headed 
“Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company” 
in this annual report.

LAI Ching Ping, aged 71, is our executive Director, co-founder and Deputy Chairman. He was appointed as an 
executive Director in December 2005. Mr. LAI assists the Chairman in board management and provides advice 
on the Group’s direction and critical decision. Mr. LAI has over 45 years of experience in the apparel industry.

Mr. LAI is currently the director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He is also the director and shareholder 
holding 30% interest of Quinta Asia Limited, which has an interest in such number of shares of the Company 
under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance as disclosed in the section headed 
“Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company” 
in this annual report.

LEE Kwok Leung, aged 59, is our executive Director and Chief Executive Officer. He was appointed as an 
executive Director in February 2006 and is currently the director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. 
Mr. LEE is the younger brother of Mr. LI Kwok Tung Roy. Mr. LEE is responsible for overall management, 
strategic planning, execution and technology implementation of our Group. Mr. LEE has been with us for over 
30 years after his graduation from the York University in 1987 with a Bachelor of Arts degree.

WONG Chi Keung, aged 55, is our executive Director, Chief Financial Officer and authorised representative. 
Mr. WONG joined us in March 2014 and is currently the director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He has 
more than 29 years of experience in accounting, auditing and finance. Between 2006 and 2013, Mr. WONG 
served as the chief financial officer for a number of sino-foreign joint venture and Hong Kong and US listed 
companies, including China Dongxiang (Group) Co., Ltd. and Besunyen Holdings Company Limited, both 
companies are listed on the Stock Exchange. Between 2002 and 2006, Mr. WONG worked at various operating 
entities of China Netcom Group, including serving as a senior finance manager of China Netcom Group 
Corporation (Hong Kong) Limited, a company previously listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. 
Between 1989 and 1999, Mr. WONG worked for PricewaterhouseCoopers, an international public accounting 
firm and lastly as an audit manager. Mr. WONG is currently an independent non-executive director of Sinomax 
Group Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. WONG obtained a Bachelor degree in Business Administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in 
1989 and a Master degree in Business Administration from the Australian Graduate School of Management in 
2002. Mr. WONG is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of 
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

KWAN Kai Cheong, aged 72, is our independent non-executive Director. He joined us in April 2006. Mr. KWAN 
is currently the chairman of the board of Utopa Limited, a commercial property operating company in Mainland 
China, and the managing director of Morrison & Company Limited, a business consultancy firm. He is also an 
independent non-executive director of several listed companies in Hong Kong including Henderson Sunlight 
Asset Management Limited (as the manager of Sunlight Real Estate Investment Trust), Greenland Hong Kong 
Holdings Limited, CK Life Sciences Int’l., (Holdings) Inc, HK Electric Investments Limited and HK Electric 
Investments Manager Limited (as the trustee manager of HK Electric Investments Limited). In addition, he is also 
a non-executive director of China Properties Group Limited, shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. KWAN previously worked for Merrill Lynch & Co. Inc. and was the president for its Asia Pacific region. He 
was an independent non-executive director of Beijing Energy International Holding Co., Ltd. (formerly known as 
Panda Green Energy Group Limited) until June 2021.

Mr. KWAN completed the Stanford Executive Program in 1992. He also holds a Bachelor of Accountancy 
(Honours) degree from the University of Singapore. He is a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in 
Australia, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Directors.

MA Ka Chun, aged 70, is our independent non-executive Director. Mr. MA joined us in June 2006. Mr. MA has 
been in the apparel industry for over 35 years and holds a Bachelor of Social Science degree from the 
University of Hong Kong.

CHAN Ka Kui, aged 71, is our independent non-executive Director. Mr. CHAN joined us in October 2019. He 
has been in the construction field for over 40 years and was the chairman of the Construction Industry Council. 
Mr. CHAN was appointed as a Justice of the Peace of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR”) 
in 1992 and awarded the Silver Bauhinia Star in 2017 by the Government of the HKSAR.

Mr. CHAN holds a Master of Laws in Arbitration and Dispute Resolution from the City University of Hong Kong 
and was awarded the Honorary Fellowship by the City University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of the 
Hong Kong Institute of Surveyor.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

LI Chun Ho Fredrick, aged 45, is the managing director of the Shine Gold Group, that is High-end Fashion 
Retailing Business, and is the son of Mr. LI Kwok Tung Roy. Mr. LI is responsible for overall management, 
strategic planning and execution of the Shine Gold Group. Mr. LI joined us in 2004 and was the sales and 
marketing director of Sportswear Manufacturing Business. He then became the senior management of the Shine 
Gold Group in 2011 and was promoted to the managing director of the Shine Gold Group in 2016. Prior to 
joining us, Mr. LI worked in the finance industry in Canada. Mr. LI obtained a Bachelor degree in Commerce 
from the University of Toronto in 2000 and an Executive Master of Business Administration degree from the 
Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2011. 

LAM Choi Ha, aged 43, is our Company Secretary responsible for handling the company secretarial and 
compliance affairs of the Group, as well as facilitating the Board process. Ms. LAM joined us in November 
2005 and was promoted to be the Company Secretary in September 2010. Prior to joining us, Ms. LAM has 
worked in the accountancy profession with PricewaterhouseCoopers. Ms. LAM obtained a Bachelor degree in 
Business Administration from the Hong Kong Baptist University in 2001. Ms. LAM is a fellow member of the 
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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The Board recognises the importance of incorporating elements of good corporate governance into the 
management structure and the risk management and internal control procedures of the Group so as to ensure 
that all business activities of the Group and the decision making process are properly regulated.

During the year under review, the Company has applied the principles and complied with the then applicable 
code provisions in the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The overall management of the Group’s business is vested in the Board.

The Board is responsible for governing the Group and managing assets entrusted by the Shareholders. Its 
principal responsibilities include formulating the Group’s business strategies and management objectives, 
monitoring and overseeing the performance of the Group, setting the Group’s values and standards and 
ensuring a prudent and effective framework of risk management and internal control is in place to enable risks 
to be assessed and managed.

The day-to-day operations of the Group are delegated to the Chief Executive Officer and the management of 
the Group. The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed.

Composition

The Board currently comprises four executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors, whose 
biographical details and relationships among the Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographical 
Details of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 12 to 14.

The composition of the Board is well balanced with each Director having sound knowledge, experience and 
expertise relevant to the business operation and development of the Group.

All Directors are aware of their collective and individual responsibilities to the Shareholders and have exercised 
their duties with care, skill and diligence, contributing to the successful performance of the Group.

Relationship Between the Board Members

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management”, none of 
the members of the Board has any relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/relevant 
relationship) between each other.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

To ensure a balance of power and authority, the roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are 
clearly segregated.

The Chairman of the Board is Mr. LI Kwok Tung Roy and his principal role is to provide leadership for the 
Board on corporate and strategic planning, ensure proper proceedings of the Board and encourage all Directors 
to have active contributions to the Board’s affairs.

The Chief Executive Officer is Mr. LEE Kwok Leung. Supported by the other executive Directors and the 
management, his principal role is to manage and operate the Group’s day-to-day business, including the 
implementation of major strategies and initiatives adopted by the Board.
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Responsibilities, Accountability and Contribution of the Board and Management

The management of the Company is led by the executive Directors of the Board and has been delegated 
powers and authorities to carry out the day-to-day operations of the Group; formulate business policies and 
make decision on key business issues; and exercise power and authority delegated by the Board from time to 
time. The management assumes full accountability to the Board for the operations of the Group.

The Board had given clear directions to the management, while certain matters (including the following) must be 
reserved to the Board for its approval:

(a) Publication of final and interim results of the Company;

(b) Decisions on whether or not to declare, recommend and pay dividend;

(c) Changes to major group structure or board composition;

(d) Notifiable or connected transactions within the meaning of Chapters 14 and 14A to the Listing Rules; and

(e) Matters specifically set out in the Listing Rules which require approval at a full board meeting.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the code of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions as set out in the 
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) in Appendix 10 to the 
Listing Rules. Having made enquiry to all Directors, they all have confirmed that they have complied with the 
required standards as set out in the Model Code during the year under view.

All Directors are also reminded not to deal in the securities of the Company within 30 days and 60 days before 
the publication of the interim and the annual results announcements, respectively, and they are prohibited to 
make use of inside information to deal in the securities of the Company.

Continuous Professional Development

Each newly appointed Director has received comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on the first occasion 
of his/her appointment, so as to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the business and 
operations of the Group and that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations as a director 
under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

Directors are continually updated on developments in the statutory and regulatory regime and the business 
environment to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities.

During the year under review, the Company has arranged training sessions to Mr. LI Kwok Tung Roy, Mr. LAI 
Ching Ping, Mr. LEE Kwok Leung, Mr. WONG Chi Keung, Mr. KWAN Kai Cheong, Mr. MA Ka Chun and 
Mr. CHAN Ka Kui which are conducted by external professional bodies to develop and refresh their knowledge 
and skills through suitable trainings. The participation in such trainings is to ensure that their contribution to the 
Board remains informed and relevant.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Independent non-executive Directors serve the function of bringing independent judgment on the development, 
performance and risk management of the Group. Each of the independent non-executive Directors has been 
appointed for a term of three years and subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

The Company confirmed that it has received from each of them the confirmations of independence according to 
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considered each of them to be independent. In addition, any further re-
appointment of an independent non-executive Director who has served the Board for more than nine years will 
be subject to separate resolution to be approved by Shareholders.

Board Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee shall nominate suitable candidates to the Board for it to consider and make 
recommendations to the Shareholders for election or re-election as directors of the Company at general 
meetings or appoint as directors to fill casual vacancies or as an addition to the Board.

The following factors would be used as reference by the Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of a 
proposed candidate:

(a) Reputation for integrity;

(b) Accomplishment and experience in the industry which the Group operates;

(c) Commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest; and

(d) Diversity in all its aspects as set out in the board diversity policy adopted by the Company from time to 
time, including but not limited to gender, age (18 years or above), cultural and educational background, 
professional experience and skills.

The secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call a meeting of the Nomination Committee, and invite 
nominations of candidates from Board members if any, for consideration by the Nomination Committee prior to 
its meeting. The Nomination Committee may also put forward candidates who are not nominated by Board 
members.

For filling a casual vacancy and/or as an addition to the Board, the Nomination Committee shall make 
recommendations for the Board’s consideration and approval. For proposing candidates to stand for election at 
a general meeting, the Nomination Committee shall make nominations to the Board for its consideration and 
recommendation.

The Nomination Committee will monitor and review the nomination policy, as appropriate, to ensure that the 
nomination policy remains relevant to the Company’s needs and reflects both current regulatory requirements 
and good corporate governance practice.
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Inside Information Policy

The Board has adopted the inside information policy in 2013 which contains the guidelines to the Directors, 
officers and certain relevant employees of the Group to ensure that inside information of the Group can be 
promptly identified, assessed and disseminated to the public in equal and timely manner in accordance with the 
applicable laws and regulations. The Company must disclose inside information to the public as soon as 
reasonably practicable, unless the “safe harbor” provisions under the Securities and Futures Ordinance apply. 
The Board shall take reasonable precautions for preserving the confidentiality of inside information and the 
relevant announcement (if applicable) before publication.

Board Committees

Certain committees have been set up under the Board to supervise the management and administrative 
functions of the Group. They include:

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 18 April 2006 with written terms of reference which were in 
compliance with the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

(a) To recommend the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditor, and to 
approve their remuneration and terms of engagement;

(b) To monitor the integrity of the Group’s financial statements, annual reports and interim reports;

(c) To review the Group’s financial controls, risk management and internal control systems;

(d) To discuss the risk management and internal control systems with the management and ensure that the 
management has performed its duty to have effective systems; and

(e) To review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and practices.



Corporate Governance Report

192021 Annual Report  Win Hanverky Holdings Limited

In addition, the Audit Committee has been delegated by the Board to be responsible for performing the 
corporate governance functions that are listed as follows:

(a) To develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and make 
recommendations to the Board;

(b) To review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of the Directors and senior 
management;

(c) To review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory 
requirements;

(d) To develop, review and monitor the code of conduct applicable to our employees and Directors; and

(e) To review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance 
Report.

The following is a summary of work performed by the Audit Committee in 2021:

(a) Review of and recommendation for the Board’s approval of the consolidated financial statements for the 
year ended 31 December 2020 and unaudited interim consolidated financial information for the six months 
ended 30 June 2021 with a focus on compliance with accounting standards, the Listing Rules and other 
requirements in relation to financial reporting;

(b) Discussion with the external auditor and the management on accounting policies and practices;

(c) Review of the external auditor’s significant audit matters;

(d) Review of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control system covering financial, operational and 
compliance controls and risk management functions;

(e) Considered the adequacy of resources, qualification and experience of staff of our Company’s accounting, 
internal audit and financial reporting function, and training programmes and budget;

(f) Approval of the audit fees and terms of engagement of the external auditor;

(g) Review of independence of the external auditor and recommendation to the Board on the re-appointment 
of the external auditor; and

(h) Determined the policy for the corporate governance of the Company and performed related duties delegated 
by the Board.

Members of the Audit Committee comprise Mr. KWAN Kai Cheong (Chairman) , Mr. MA Ka Chun and Mr. CHAN 
Ka Kui, all being independent non-executive Directors.
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Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 18 April 2006 with written terms of reference which 
were in compliance with the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include the 
following:

(a) To review the structure, size, composition and diversity (including without limitation, gender, age, cultural 
and educational background, professional experience, talents, skills, knowledge, length of service and 
other qualities of Directors) of the Board at least annually and make recommendations on any proposed 
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

(b) Having regard to the board diversity policy and the nomination policy of the Company, to identify individuals 
suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make recommendations to the Board on the 
selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

(c) To assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors;

(d) To make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession 
planning for directors;

(e) To monitor the implementation of the board diversity policy and to review as appropriate, such a policy to 
ensure its effectiveness; and

(f) To review its own performance, constitution and terms of reference at least once a year to ensure it is 
operating at maximum effectiveness and recommend any changes it considers necessary to the Board for 
approval.

The Board adopted a board diversity policy which sets out its approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The 
summary of the board diversity policy is set out as follows:

(a) The Board recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse board with a view to enhancing its 
effectiveness and achieving a high standard of corporate governance. The Board also sees diversity as an 
essential element in maintaining a competitive advantage and contributing to the attainment of the 
strategic objectives and sustainable development of the Company;

(b) The Board believes that a diversity of perspectives can be achieved through consideration of a number of 
factors, including without limitation, gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional 
experience, talents, skills, knowledge, length of service and other qualities of directors; and

(c) These differences will be considered in determining the optimum composition of the Board and when possible 
should be balanced appropriately having regard to the Company’s own business model and specific 
needs. The ultimate decision of all Board appointments should be based on meritocracy and the likely 
contributions that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.
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The following is a summary of work performed by the Nomination Committee in 2021:

(a) Review of the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board;

(b) Review of the independence of the independent non-executive Directors; 

(c) Review of the appointment and re-appointment of Directors;

(d) Review of the board diversity policy and the nomination policy of the Company and their respective 
effectiveness; and

(e) Review of its own performance, constitution and terms of reference.

Members of the Nomination Committee comprise Mr. MA Ka Chun (Chairman) , Mr. LI Kwok Tung Roy and 
Mr. CHAN Ka Kui, two of whom are independent non-executive Directors.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 18 April 2006 with written terms of reference which 
were in compliance with the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include making 
recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure of all remuneration of the Directors and senior 
management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on such 
remuneration. The Company’s emolument policy is to ensure that the remuneration offered to employees 
including executive Directors and senior management is based on skills, knowledge, responsibilities and 
involvement in the Company’s affairs. The remuneration packages are also determined by reference to the 
Company’s performance and profitability, remuneration benchmark in the industry and the prevailing market 
conditions. The emolument policy for independent non-executive Directors, mainly comprising directors’ fees, is 
subject to an annual assessment with reference to the market standard. Individual director and senior 
management would not be involved in deciding their own remuneration.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee has assessed performance of the executive 
Directors, reviewed their remuneration packages and recommended them to the Board. The remuneration of 
Directors comprises basic salary, pensions and discretionary bonus. Details of the amount of emoluments of 
Directors for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in Note 33 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

The remuneration of the members of the senior management by band for the year ended 31 December 2021 is 
set out below:

Number of individuals

2021 2020 

Remuneration band
HK$500,001 – HK$1,000,000 — 1
HK$1,000,001 – HK$1,500,000 1 1
HK$2,000,001 – HK$2,500,000 1 —

Members of the Remuneration Committee comprise Mr. CHAN Ka Kui (Chairman) , Mr. LI Kwok Tung Roy and 
Mr. KWAN Kai Cheong, two of whom are independent non-executive Directors.
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Attendance of Meetings

The Board holds regular Board meetings, Remuneration Committee meeting, Nomination Committee meeting 
and Audit Committee meetings to discuss the Group’s businesses, operations, development and conduct. All 
important issues are discussed in a timely manner. The attendance record of each Director, who held office in 
2021, at the aforesaid meetings held during the year ended 31 December 2021 is set out below:

Number of meetings attended/eligible to attend

for the year ended 31 December 2021

Name of Director

Board

Meeting

General

Meeting

Remuneration

Committee

Meeting

Nomination

Committee

Meeting

Audit

Committee

Meeting

Executive Directors
Mr. LI Kwok Tung Roy1, 3 4/4 1/1 1/1 1/1 N/A

Mr. LAI Ching Ping 4/4 1/1 N/A N/A N/A

Mr. LEE Kwok Leung 4/4 1/1 N/A N/A N/A

Mr. WONG Chi Keung 4/4 1/1 N/A N/A N/A

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. KWAN Kai Cheong1, 6 4/4 1/1 1/1 N/A 2/2

Mr. MA Ka Chun4, 5 4/4 1/1 N/A 1/1 2/2

Mr. CHAN Ka Kui2, 3, 5 4/4 1/1 N/A 1/1 2/2

Dr. CHAN Kwong Fai2, 3, 5  

(resigned on 20 January 2022)
2/4 1/1 0/1 0/1 1/2

Notes:

1. Members of Remuneration Committee

2. Chairman of Remuneration Committee

3. Members of Nomination Committee

4. Chairman of Nomination Committee

5. Members of Audit Committee

6. Chairman of Audit Committee

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. LAM Choi Ha, the Company Secretary of the Company, is a full time employee of the Group and has day-
to-day knowledge of the Group’s affairs. During the year under review, Ms. LAM confirmed that she has 
complied with the relevant professional training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. Her 
biographical detail is set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” 
on page 14.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility for establishing and maintaining the Group’s risk management and 
internal control procedures and systems and for reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management 
and internal control systems which include financial, operational and compliance controls.

Risk Management

The Group is committed to the identification, monitoring and management of risks associated with its business 
activities. As an ongoing basis, risk management philosophy and practices are adopted in the Group’s routine 
business operations and management process. Business operations from various aspects including associated 
risks are assessed by the senior management during regular management meetings.

In 2020, the Board engaged an independent international professional firm as our internal audit advisor (the 
“Internal Audit Advisor”) to conduct a risk assessment for the Group. In 2021, the Internal Audit Advisor has 
updated the internal audit plan based on the Group’s ongoing assessment of risks. Based on the updated 
internal audit plan, the Internal Audit Advisor performed an internal control assessment with details described in 
the sub-section headed “Internal Audit” below.

The major processes used to identify, assess and manage significant risks by the Group are summarised as 
follows:

Risk Identification

• Identify risks that may potentially affect the Group’s business and operations.

Risk Assessment

• Assess risks identified by using the assessment criteria developed by the management; and

• Consider impact on the business and the likelihood of their occurrence.

Risk Response

• Prioritise risks by comparing the results of risk assessment; and

• Determine risk management strategies and internal control processes to avoid, prevent, transfer and mitigate 
risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

• Perform ongoing and periodic monitoring of risk and ensure that appropriate internal control processes are 
in place;

• Revise risk management strategies and internal control processes in case of any significant change of 
environment; and

• Report results of risk monitoring to the management and the Board on a regular basis.
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Internal Control

The Group’s internal control is designed to provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material 
misstatement or loss and to mitigate rather than eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and fulfilment of 
business objectives. The Group has established internal control to help the business operations to achieve the 
Group’s business objectives, to safeguard the Group’s assets, to ensure business operations complying with 
applicable laws and regulations, and to ensure the maintenance of proper accounting records and the reliability 
of financial information reported by the business operations.

Internal Audit

In view of the requirements in the Listing Rules in relation to the code provision on internal audit function, the 
Board, through the Audit Committee, engaged the Internal Audit Advisor to assist the Board in evaluating the 
various components of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group under the framework of 
control environment, risk assessment, control activities, information and communication, and monitoring in 
consistence with the “Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway Commission” framework (“COSO 
framework”). The Internal Audit Advisor communicates with the management and reports directly to the Audit 
Committee. Based on the internal audit plan, the Internal Audit Advisor conducted reviews of the effectiveness 
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems during the fiscal year 2021. All audit findings were 
reported and communicated to the Audit Committee, Directors and respective management. Appropriate 
recommendations for further enhancing the risk management and internal control systems were proposed to the 
management and had been adopted as the management thought fit.

The Audit Committee, which was delegated by the Board, reviews the effectiveness of the Group’s risk 
management and internal control procedures and systems at least once a year, and has reviewed and 
evaluated the Group’s internal control systems putting in place by the management covering all material 
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls, risk management functions and the internal 
audit function of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2021. During the year 
under review, the Board has through the Audit Committee conducted a review of the effectiveness of the 
Group’s risk management and internal control systems and is satisfied with the effectiveness and adequacy of 
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group.



Corporate Governance Report

252021 Annual Report  Win Hanverky Holdings Limited

FINANCIAL REPORTING

Responsibilities in respect of the Financial Statements

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for preparing the financial statements of the Group. In preparing the 
financial statements, the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants have been adopted. The principal accounting policies, which have been 
consistently applied to all the years, adopted for the preparation of financial statements of the Group are set 
out in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

The reporting responsibility of the Company’s external auditor on the financial statements of the Group is set 
out in the independent auditor’s report on pages 38 to 43 of this annual report.

Auditor’s Remuneration

During the year under rev iew, the serv ices provided by the Company’s external auditor, 
PricewaterhouseCoopers, and the related fees are set out as follows:

Nature of services HK$’000

Audit related services 4,080
Non-audit related services (Note) 313

4,393

Note: Non-audit related services include certain agreed-upon procedures and taxation related services.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Communication with Shareholders

To ensure that the Shareholders and potential investors are provided with ready, equal and timely access to 
balanced and understandable information about the Company, the Company had established a shareholders’ 
communication policy in March 2012 and reviewed its implementation regularly to ensure its effectiveness. The 
Company communicates with the Shareholders mainly in the following ways:

(a) The holding of annual general meetings and extraordinary general meetings, if any which may be convened 
for specific purposes, which provide opportunities for the Shareholders to communicate directly to the 
Board;

(b) The publication of announcements, annual reports, interim reports and circulars on the websites of the 
Company and the Stock Exchange;

(c) Publication of press releases of the Company providing updated information of the Group;

(d) The availability of latest information of the Group on the Company’s website;

(e) The holding of investor/analyst briefings and media conference from time to time; and

(f) Meeting with investors and analysts on a regular basis.
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Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company (“EGM”)

Pursuant to article 58 of the articles of association of the Company, Shareholders holding at the date of deposit 
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at 
general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by depositing at the head office of the 
Company in Hong Kong written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary of the Company, to require 
an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such 
meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, 
the Board fails to proceed to convene an EGM, the requisitionist(s) himself/themselves may do so in the same 
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall 
be reimbursed by the Company.

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to move new resolutions at general meetings under the Cayman 
Islands Companies Law (2011 Revision) or the articles of association of the Company. Shareholders who wish 
to move a resolution may request the Company to convene a general meeting following the procedures set out 
in the preceding paragraph.

Enquiries from Shareholders

Shareholders are welcomed to send their enquiries and concerns to the Board addressing to the Company 
Secretary of the Company through the following channels:

(a) By mail to the Company’s head office at 6th Floor, Phase 6, Hong Kong Spinners Industrial Building, 
481–483 Castle Peak Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong;

(b) By email at ir@win-hanverky.com.hk; or

(c) By fax at (852) 3544-3316.

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

As regards to the procedures for the Shareholders to propose a person for election as a Director, please refer 
to the “Investor Relations” section of the Company’s website.

Voting by Poll

The articles of association of the Company set out the procedures, requirements and circumstances where 
voting by poll is required. Pursuant to Rule 13.39 of the Listing Rules, any vote of shareholders at a general 
meeting must be taken by poll except where the chairman, in good faith, decides to allow a resolution which 
relates purely to a procedural or administrative matter to be voted on by a show of hands.

The poll results will be published on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange as soon as possible 
after conclusion of the general meeting, but in any event not later than the time that is 30 minutes before the 
earlier of the commencement of the morning trading session or any pre-opening session on the business day 
following the general meeting.
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Dividend Policy

The Company strives for generating steady returns to the Shareholders. It is the policy of the Company, in 
considering the payment of dividends, to allow the Shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits whilst 
retaining adequate reserves for the Group’s future growth.

The dividend payout ratio shall be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion after taking into account 
of, among others, the following factors:

(a) The Group’s financial performance;

(b) Retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and each of the subsidiaries of the Group;

(c) The Group’s working capital requirements, capital expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

(d) The Group’s liquidity position; and

(e) Other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any restrictions under the applicable laws and 
regulations, including the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the memorandum and articles of 
association of the Company.

The Board will continue to review the dividend policy from time to time and reserves the right in its sole and 
absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify the dividend policy at any time. There is no assurance that 
dividends will be paid in any particular amount for any given period.

Changes to Constitutional Documents

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there was no amendment to the Company’s constitutional 
documents, and these documents are published on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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The Directors present their annual report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the 
Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing, retailing and sales of internationally renowned sports, 
fashion and outdoor brands. Sales are primarily under OEM arrangements to customers mainly in Europe, the 
United States, Mainland China and other countries, and under retail modes in Mainland China, Hong Kong, 
Macau, Taiwan and Singapore.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by business and geographical segments is set out in Note 
5 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

General

A review of the business of the Group in 2021 and a discussion on the Group’s future business development 
are set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on 
pages 4 to 11 of this annual report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

A number of factors affecting the results and business operations of the Group is set out in the sections 
headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 4 to 11 of this annual 
report.

Post Year End Events

Save as disclosed in Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements, no other important event has occurred 
since 31 December 2021, being the end of the financial year under review, which materially affects the Group.

Analysis of Key Financial Performance Indicators

A summary of the key financial performance indicators of the Group for the last five financial years is set out in 
the section headed “Financial Highlights” on page 3 of this annual report.

Environmental Policies

We are committed to building an environmental-friendly corporation that pays close attention to conserving 
natural resources. We strive to minimise our environmental impact by saving electricity and encouraging recycle 
of office supplies and other materials. We also require our factories under Manufacturing Business to operate in 
strict compliance with the relevant environmental regulations and rules.
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Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s subsidiaries in Mainland China, Vietnam, 
Cambodia and Hong Kong while the Company itself is listed on the Stock Exchange in Hong Kong. Our 
establishment and operations accordingly shall comply with relevant local laws and regulations. During the year 
ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date of this annual report, we have complied with relevant local laws 
and regulations applicable to it in all material respects.

Key Relationships

The Group endeavours to maintain sustainable development in the long term, continuously create value for its 
employees and customers, and foster good relationship with its suppliers.

The Group understands that employees are its valuable assets and the realisation and enhancement of 
employees’ value will facilitate the achievement of the Group’s overall goals. A comprehensive range of fringe 
benefits is offered to attract, retain and motivate employees.

The Group also understands the importance of maintaining good relationships with its suppliers and customers 
to the overall development of the Group and to ensure that they can share its commitment to product quality. 
Suppliers are carefully selected and they are required to satisfy certain criteria including track record, 
experience, reputation, ability to produce high-quality products and quality control effectiveness. To maintain the 
competitiveness of its products and brands, the Group commits itself to consistently provide quality products to 
its customers.

During the year under review, the Group considered the relationship with employees was well and the turnover 
rate is acceptable whereas there was no significant and material dispute with its key suppliers and customers.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The environmental, social and governance report of the Company prepared in accordance with Appendix 27 to 
the Listing Rules will be published on the websites of the Company (http://www.winhanverky.com) and the 
Stock Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk) within five months after the end of the reporting period.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company are set out in Note 17 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the Group during the year are set out in Note 29 
and Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on 
page 48 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2021, the Company’s reserves available for distributions to Shareholders amounted to 
HK$952.9 million (2020: HK$938.5 million). Details of movements in the reserves of the Company are set out in 
Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the articles of association of the Company and there is no 
restriction against such rights under the laws of Cayman Islands where the Company was incorporated, which 
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in the consolidated income 
statement on page 46 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021.

CLOSURES OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday, 2 June 2022 to Thursday, 9 June 2022 
(both dates inclusive), during which period no transfer of Shares will be registered. In order to qualify for 
attendance and voting at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, all transfers of Shares 
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Hong Kong share registrar and transfer 
office of the Company, Tricor Investor Services Limited of Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, 
Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 1 June 2022.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in Note 6 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

DONATION

During the year under review, the Group made charitable and other donations totaling HK$172,000.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the Shareholders by reason of their 
holding of the Company’s securities.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed 
securities during the year under review.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group are set out on pages 12 to 14.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. LI Kwok Tung Roy Mr. KWAN Kai Cheong
Mr. LAI Ching Ping Mr. MA Ka Chun
Mr. LEE Kwok Leung Mr. CHAN Ka Kui
Mr. WONG Chi Keung Dr. CHAN Kwong Fai (resigned on 20 January 2022)

According to Articles 87(1) and 87(2) of the articles of association of the Company, Mr. LI Kwok Tung Roy, 
Mr. WONG Chi Keung and Mr. MA Ka Chun shall retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting by rotation 
and be eligible to offer themselves for re-election as a Director.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

Save for the related party transactions disclosed in Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements, no 
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company, 
its holding company or any of their respective subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or an entity 
connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the 
financial year or at any time during the year under review.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Apart from the Share Option Scheme and the New Share Option Scheme as set out in the section headed 
“Share Option Scheme and New Share Option Scheme” below, at no time during the year under review was the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement that would enable the Directors to acquire 
benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors is interested in any business apart from the Group’s business which competes or is likely 
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

According to Article 167 of the articles of association of the Company, the Directors shall be indemnified out of 
the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and 
expenses for any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, 
in their respective offices or trusts, provided that the indemnity shall not extend to any fraud or dishonesty 
which may attach to them.

The Company has taken out and maintained appropriate insurance cover for its Directors and officers in respect 
of potential legal actions that may be incurred in the course of performing their duties.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has a service contract with the Company for a term of three years and is 
subject to termination by either party giving not less than six months’ written notice. Under the service 
contracts, each of the executive Directors is entitled to an annual discretionary management bonus in respect of 
each complete financial year of the Group as the Board may approve.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company 
with a fixed term of office for three years which is determinable by either party giving not less than three 
months’ written notice.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company has 
a service contract which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation 
(other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executive(s) of the 
Company (if any) in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated 
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which were 
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which were notified 
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

(a) Long positions in the shares/underlying shares of the Company

Name of Directors Capacity

Number of 
shares/

underlying 
shares

Percentage  
of interest  

in the Company*

Mr. LI Kwok Tung Roy Interest in a controlled corporation 743,769,9671 57.91%

Mr. LAI Ching Ping Beneficial owner 4,186,000 0.33%

Mr. LEE Kwok Leung Beneficial owner 12,000,0002 0.93%

Mr. WONG Chi Keung Beneficial owner 10,102,0003 0.79%

*  The calculation of percentages is based on 1,284,400,000 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2021.

Notes:

1. Mr. LI Kwok Tung Roy holds 70% of the issued share capital of Quinta Asia Limited (“Quinta”). Mr. LI Kwok Tung Roy has a 
controlling interest in Quinta and is therefore deemed to be interested in Quinta’s interest in the Company for the purposes of the 
SFO.

2. Mr. LEE Kwok Leung is interested as a grantee of options to subscribe for up to 12,000,000 Shares under the Share Option 
Scheme.

3. Mr. WONG Chi Keung held 102,000 Shares and is interested as a grantee of options to subscribe for up to 10,000,000 Shares 
under the Share Option Scheme.
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(b)  Long positions in the shares of the associated corporation of the Company (as defined 
in the SFO)

Name of directors
Associated 
corporation Capacity

Number of 
shares

Percentage of 
interest in 

associated 
corporation

Mr. LI Kwok Tung Roy Quinta Beneficial owner 7 70%

Mr. LAI Ching Ping Quinta Beneficial owner 3 30%

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the Directors, chief executive(s) or any of their 
respective associates had any interest or short position, whether beneficial or non-beneficial, in the shares, the 
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part 
XV of the SFO).

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE 
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2021, as far as the Directors were aware, the following persons (other than the Directors or 
chief executive(s) of the Company) had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the 
Company which were recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

Number of shares Percentage of 
interest in the 

Company*Name Capacity
Long 

position
Short 

position
Lending 

pool

Quinta Beneficial owner 743,769,967 — — 57.91%

*  The calculation of percentages is based on 1,284,400,000 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2021.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the Company had not been notified by any person (other 
than the Directors or chief executive(s) of the Company) who had interests or short position in the shares and 
underlying shares of the Company which were recorded in the register kept by the Company under section 336 
of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND NEW SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the written resolutions of the Shareholders passed on 8 August 2006, the Company has established a 
share option scheme (“Share Option Scheme”) whereby the Board may, at their discretion, invite any directors, 
employees, consultants, professionals, customers, suppliers, agents, partners or advisers of or contractors to the Group 
(subject to the eligibility requirements as set out therein). The total number of Shares available for issue under the Share 
Option Scheme and any other schemes must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the 
Company as at the listing date on 6 September 2006 unless further Shareholders’ approval has been obtained. In 
addition, the number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be 
exercised at any time under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes adopted by the Group shall not exceed 
30% of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time. No options may be granted under the Share 
Option Scheme or any other schemes adopted by the Group if the grant of such option will result in the limit being 
exceeded. The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon the exercise of the options granted and to be 
granted (including both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12 months’ period up to the date of grant to a 
substantial Shareholder or an independent non-executive director or their associates would not exceed 0.1% of the 
shares in issue or an aggregate value of HK$5,000,000 unless further Shareholders’ approval has been obtained; and 
to each other eligible person would not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to recognise and acknowledge the contributions that eligible 
participants have made or may make to the Group. It also provides the eligible participants with an opportunity to 
acquire proprietary interests in the Company with a view to (a) motivate the eligible participants to optimise the 
performance and efficiency for the benefit of the Group; and (b) attract and retain or otherwise maintain ongoing 
business relationship with the eligible participants whose contributions are, will or expected to be beneficial to the 
Group.

The Share Option Scheme has expired on 5 September 2016. In order to continue to provide the eligible 
participants, where appropriate, with an additional incentive by offering them an opportunity to obtain an 
ownership interest in the Company and to reward them for contributing to the long-term success of the 
business of the Group, the Board has sought and obtained approval of the Shareholders for the adoption of a 
new share option scheme (“New Share Option Scheme”) at the annual general meeting of the Company on 
16 June 2016. The New Share Option Scheme adopted became effective from 20 June 2016 and will remain in 
force for a period of 10 years.

Under the New Share Option Scheme, the Board may, at their discretion, grant share options to eligible 
participants including any directors, employees or partners of the Group. The offer shall remain open for 
acceptance by the eligible participants for a period of not less than three business days from the date of offer 
and the Board may, at its discretion, specify the minimum period for which an option must be held before it can 
be exercised at the time of grant. A non-refundable consideration of HK$10 shall be paid by each grantee on 
acceptance of the options. The exercise price is to be determined by the Board, and will not be less than the 
highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the 
Company’s shares for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value 
of the Company’s share. The total number of Shares which may be issued under the New Share Option 
Scheme must not exceed 128,440,000 shares, representing 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as 
at the date of this annual report. Other major terms of the New Share Option Scheme are substantially similar 
to those under the Share Option Scheme.

Upon the expiry of the Share Option Scheme, no share options can be further granted thereunder, whereas 
outstanding share options under the Share Option Scheme remain valid.

The accounting policy adopted for the share options is described in Note 2.17(b) to the consolidated financial 
statements.
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Movements of the options under the Share Option Scheme for the year ended 31 December 2021 are as 
follows:

Number of options under  
the Share Option Scheme

Grantee Date of grant

Exercise price 
per Share  

HK$ Exercise period

As at 
1 January 

2021

Exercised 
during  

the year

Lapsed/
cancelled 

during  
the year

As at 
31 December 

2021

Mr. LEE Kwok Leung 
Executive Director

16/07/2014 0.946 16/07/2015–15/07/2024 2,400,000 — — 2,400,000
16/07/2016–15/07/2024 2,400,000 — — 2,400,000
16/07/2017–15/07/2024 2,400,000 — — 2,400,000
16/07/2018–15/07/2024 2,400,000 — — 2,400,000
16/07/2019–15/07/2024 2,400,000 — — 2,400,000

        
12,000,000 — — 12,000,000

 Mr. WONG Chi Keung 
Executive Director 

22/12/2015 1.562 22/12/2016–21/12/2025 2,000,000 — — 2,000,000
22/12/2017–21/12/2025 2,000,000 — — 2,000,000
22/12/2018–21/12/2025 2,000,000 — — 2,000,000
22/12/2019–21/12/2025 2,000,000 — — 2,000,000
22/12/2020–21/12/2025 2,000,000 — — 2,000,000

        
10,000,000 — — 10,000,000

        
An employee 16/07/2014 0.946 16/07/2016–15/07/2024 1,000,000 — — 1,000,000

16/07/2017–15/07/2024 1,000,000 — — 1,000,000
16/07/2018–15/07/2024 1,000,000 — — 1,000,000
16/07/2019–15/07/2024 1,000,000 — — 1,000,000

        
4,000,000 — — 4,000,000

        
An employee 09/01/2014 1.010 09/01/2015–08/01/2024 1,000,000 — — 1,000,000

09/01/2016–08/01/2024 1,000,000 — — 1,000,000
09/01/2017–08/01/2024 1,000,000 — — 1,000,000
09/01/2018–08/01/2024 1,000,000 — — 1,000,000
09/01/2019–08/01/2024 1,000,000 — — 1,000,000

        
5,000,000 — — 5,000,000

        
Total 31,000,000 — — 31,000,000

No option has been granted under the New Share Option Scheme by 31 December 2021.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the year under review, other than the Share Option Scheme and the New Share Option Scheme as set 
out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme and New Share Option Scheme” above, the Company has not 
entered into any equity-linked agreement.
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RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group participates in several defined contribution retirement schemes which cover the Group’s eligible 
employees in Mainland China, Vietnam and Cambodia and certain Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes for the 
employees in Hong Kong.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the 
business of the Company, which was not a contract of service with any Director or any person engaged in the 
full time employment of the Company, was entered into or existed during the year under review.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

None of the related party transactions of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 as set out in Note 
27 to the consolidated financial statements constituted connected transactions or continuing connected 
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules which are required to comply with any of 
the reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules. The 
Directors confirmed that the Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with 
Chapter 14A to the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Sales and purchases of the Group from continuing operations attributable to its major customers and suppliers 
respectively for the year ended 31 December 2021 were as follows:

% of Sales % of Purchases

The largest customer/supplier 51.3 10.7
Five largest customers/suppliers 63.4 33.5

To the best knowledge and belief of the Directors, none of the Directors, their close associates or any 
Shareholder owning more than 5% of the issued share capital of the Company, has any interest in any of the 
Group’s five largest customers or suppliers as disclosed above.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, 
the Company has maintained a sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules as at the latest 
practicable date prior to the issue of this report.
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AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers 
who will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting. A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming 
annual general meeting to re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers as the auditor of the Company for the year 
ending 31 December 2022.

By order of the Board
Win Hanverky Holdings Limited
LI Kwok Tung Roy
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2022
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
WIN HANVERKY HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Win Hanverky Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(the “Group”), which are set out on pages 44 to 111, comprise:

• the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021;
• the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;
• the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
• the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
• the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended; and
• the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other 

explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial 
position of the Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its 
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been 
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the 
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

• Impairment assessment of assets of the Group
• Impairment of property, plant and equipment and leased assets of underperforming retail stores

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessment of assets of the Group

Refer to notes 2.7, 2.8, 4(a), 4(d), 4(e) and 7 
to the consolidated financial statements

The Group carried HK$221 million intangible 
assets on the consolidated statement of 
financial position as at 31 December 2021, of 
which HK$91 million is attributable to the 
goodwill arisen from the acquisition of the 
high-end fashion retailing business under 
Shine Gold Limited and its subsidiaries 
(“Shine Gold Group”), HK$34 million is 
attributable to the goodwill arisen from the 
acquisition of the golf and high-end apparel 
manufacturing and trading business under 
Charmtech Industrial Limited and its subsidiary 
(“Charmtech Group”) and HK$89 million is 
attributable to the goodwill and customer 
relationship arisen from the acquisition of 
Sport Field Limited and its subsidiaries (“Sport 
Field Group”). Shine Gold Group, and 
Charmtech Group together with Sport Field 
Group are considered two separate groups of 
cash generating units (“CGUs”). Goodwill is 
required to be assessed for impairment at 
least annually. Management, based on the 
assessment results, has concluded that there 
is no impairment in respect of the Group’s 
intangible assets in the current year.

For impairment assessment of assets, 
management has estimated the recoverable 
amount based on discounted cash flow 
projections using fair value less costs of 
disposal (“FVLCD”) or value in use (“VIU”) 
calculations whichever is higher.

We focused on this area as the assessments 
made by management involved significant 
estimates and judgements, including the 
revenue growth, gross margins, and terminal 
growth rates used to estimate future cash 
flows and discount rates applied to these 
forecasted future cash flows of the underlying 
CGUs.

For the assets impairment assessments, we evaluated 
management’s va luat ion models by assess ing the 
appropriateness of the valuation methodologies and the 
process by which the models were drawn up. We assessed 
the inherent risk of material misstatement by considering the 
degree of estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent 
risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity, changes and 
susceptibility to management bias or fraud.

We obtained management’s future cash flow forecasts, tested 
the mathematical accuracy of the underlying calculations and 
compared the underlying inputs to the latest approved one-
year financial budget and future business plans. We also 
compared the current year actual results to those budgeted 
figures adopted in the cash flow forecasts used in the prior 
year impairment assessment to assess the quality of 
management’s forecasts.

We assessed management’s key assumptions used in the 
business plans, in particular the forecasted revenue growth 
and budgeted gross margins, by comparing against the 
historical performance of the CGUs and industry data such as 
actual gross margins of other market players.

We also assessed the reasonableness of other key 
assumptions used in the calculations. Our audit procedures 
included an assessment of:

— the terminal growth rates used by management and 
comparing them to the long term economic growth 
forecasts of the garment manufacturing and retail 
industries; and

— the risk adjusted discount rates used by management by 
involving our internal valuation expert and comparing 
these discount rates used to entities with similar risk 
profile and market information.

In addition, we also reviewed the sensitivity analyses 
performed by management around the key assumptions to 
ascertain that the selected adverse changes of key 
assumptions would not cause the carrying amount of the 
intangible assets of Shine Gold Group, and Charmtech Group 
together with Sport Field Group to exceed the recoverable 
amounts.

Based on the collective audit evidence obtained, we consider 
that management’s judgements and assumptions used in the 
intangible assets impairment assessments were supportable.
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and leased assets of underperforming retail stores

Refer to notes 2.8, 4(a) and 21 to the 
consolidated financial statements

As at 31 December 2021, management 
assessed the Group’s retail store assets 
mainly compris ing r ight-of-use assets, 
leasehold improvements and furniture and 
equipment for indication of impairment. The 
economic and sector trends facing the Group 
may adversely impact the recoverable values 
of the assets used within the retail stores 
which is considered to be a triggering event 
for impairment review.

Management considered each retail store to 
be a cash generating unit and performed a 
review of the trading results of its retail stores 
for the year to assess whether the related 
property, plant and equipment and leased 
assets of the retail store were subject to an 
impairment loss.

As a result of management’s assessment, 
which is based on cash flow forecast of each 
retail store with indications of impairment, 
considering on top of the impairment made in 
the prior years, the Group recognised 
impairment loss of property, plant and 
equipment and leased assets of HK$6 million 
in relation to its underperforming retail stores 
operating in Hong Kong and Mainland China in 
the consolidated income statement for the 
year ended 31 December 2021.

We focused on this area because there were 
significant estimates and judgements made by 
management in the assessment in determining 
the impairment loss of the related property, 
plant and equipment and leased assets of 
each retail store. The key assumptions 
adopted in the assessments included the 
forecasted sales performance and running 
costs of each retail store as well as the 
discount rates applied to the forecasted future 
cash flows of these retail stores.

We obtained an understanding of management’s process and 
control on assessing the impairment of property, plant and 
equipment and leased assets of underperforming retail stores. 
We assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement by 
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and level of 
other inherent risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity, 
changes and susceptibility to management bias or fraud.

W e  o b t a i n e d  m a n a g e m e n t ’ s  a s s e s s m e n t  o f  t h e 
underperforming retail stores. We checked whether all 
underperforming retail stores of the Group in Hong Kong and 
Mainland China were considered in the process. We also 
discussed with management the possibility that the performing 
retail stores may be subject to impairment loss and 
corroborated management’s representation by comparing to 
the historical performance of these retails stores and 
understanding of their business plan obtained during the 
course of audit.

We further gained an understanding of the calculations based 
on the cash flow forecast of each underperforming store used 
by management in determining the impairment loss of the 
property, plant and equipment and leased assets.

In assessing the impairment, we focused on assessing the key 
assumptions adopted in the assessments of individual retail 
store where we:

— compared the forecasted sales performance to the 
approved budget and business plan, and compared 
estimated running costs to the existing retail store’s 
performance;

— discussed with management the business plan and 
evaluated the reasonableness of those plans with the 
historical performance of these retail stores and latest 
market trend;

— checked key inputs to the calculations such as 
depreciation of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets to the relevant supporting documents;

— assessed the reasonableness of the discount rates 
adopted by management and compared the discount 
rates used to entities with similar risk profile; and

— checked accuracy of the mathematical calculations of the 
impairment loss of the retail stores.

Based on the collective audit evidence obtained, we consider 
that management’s judgements and assumptions used in the 
assessment to determine the impairment loss of the property, 
p l an t  and equ ipment  and l eased asse ts  o f  t he 
underperforming retail stores were supportable. 
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all of 
the information included in Win Hanverky Holdings Limited 2021 Annual Report (the “annual report”) (but does 
not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon), which we obtained prior to 
the date of this auditor’s report, and the environmental, social and governance report (the “ESG Report”) for the 
year ended 31 December 2021, which is expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this 
auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the ESG Report for the year ended 31 December 2021, if we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to the Audit Committee and take appropriate 
action considering our legal rights and obligations.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that 
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of 
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not 
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.
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We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that 
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate 
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key 
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not 
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected 
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Cheng Woon Yin Michael.

PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 24 March 2022
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As at 31 December 2021

2021 2020
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 6 1,056,014 1,030,022
Intangible assets 7 221,314 224,142
Investments in associates 8 15,274 14,864
Other receivables and financial assets 11 49,296 59,326
Deferred tax assets 16 115,075 92,875
Pledged bank deposit 12 — 1,189 

1,456,973 1,422,418 

Current assets
Inventories 9 1,344,515 1,105,582
Trade and bills receivable 10 547,797 449,942
Other receivables and financial assets 11 175,773 144,568
Current tax recoverables 3,156 1,432
Pledged bank deposit 12 1,224 —

Cash and bank balances 12 415,819 695,088 

2,488,284 2,396,612 

Current liabilities
Trade and bills payable 13 332,282 257,525
Accruals and other payables 14 319,314 328,753
Borrowings 15 942,216 889,244
Lease liabilities 6(b) 112,830 141,598
Current tax liabilities 74,366 79,461 

1,781,008 1,696,581 

Non-current liabilities
Other payables 14 16,433 20,554
Lease liabilities 6(b) 197,712 125,813
Deferred tax liabilities 16 7,453 7,736 

221,598 154,103  

Net assets 1,942,651 1,968,346 
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As at 31 December 2021

2021 2020
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company
Share capital 17 128,440 128,440
Reserves 18 1,830,655 1,844,369 

1,959,095 1,972,809
Non-controlling interests (16,444) (4,463) 

Total equity 1,942,651 1,968,346 

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 44 to 111 were approved by the Company’s Board of Directors 
on 24 March 2022 and were signed on its behalf.

LI Kwok Tung Roy LAI Ching Ping
Director Director
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Continuing operations
Revenue 5 4,136,603 4,021,402
Cost of sales (3,137,612) (3,056,501) 

Gross profit 998,991 964,901

Selling and distribution costs (615,055) (613,952)
General and administrative expenses (439,398) (431,226)
Other net income 19 4,585 33,209 

Operating loss (50,877) (47,068)

Finance costs — net 20 (32,074) (36,119)
Share of profits of associates 8 312 756 

Loss before income tax 21 (82,639) (82,431)

Income tax credit/(expense) 23 13,005 (1,354) 

Loss from continuing operations (69,634) (83,785)

Discontinued operations
Loss from discontinued operations 28 — (104,728) 

Loss for the year (69,634) (188,513) 

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
— Continuing operations (66,416) (84,669)
— Discontinued operations 28 — (149,152) 

(66,416) (233,821)
Non-controlling interests (3,218) 45,308 

(69,634) (188,513) 

Loss per share (basic and diluted) attributable to:  
(expressed in HK cents per share) 24

Equity holders of the Company from continuing operations (5.2) (6.6)
Equity holders of the Company (5.2) (18.2) 

The above consolidated income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss for the year (69,634) (188,513)

Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss
Currency translation differences 43,841 57,845
Share of other comprehensive income of associates 98 241

Item that has been reclassified to profit or loss
Realisation of accumulated exchange differences upon  

disposal of subsidiaries — 995

Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Change in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through 

other comprehensive income — (3,950) 

Total comprehensive income for the year (25,695) (133,382) 

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
— Continuing operations (23,805) (32,263)
— Discontinued operations — (148,486) 

(23,805) (180,749)
Non-controlling interests (1,890) 47,367 

(25,695) (133,382) 

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

Attributable to equity holders 
of the Company

Share  
capital  

(Note 17)
Reserves 
(Note 18) Total

Non-
controlling 

interests
Total 

equity
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

At 1 January 2020 128,440 2,028,707 2,157,147 (43,822) 2,113,325     

(Loss)/profit for the year — (233,821) (233,821) 45,308 (188,513)

Other comprehensive income — 53,072 53,072 2,059 55,131

Total comprehensive income 
for the year — (180,749) (180,749) 47,367 (133,382)

Employee share option scheme — 171 171 — 171
Change in ownership interests  

in subsidiaries without change  
of control — (3,760) (3,760) (1,241) (5,001)

Disposal of subsidiaries — — — (6,767) (6,767)

— (3,589) (3,589) (8,008) (11,597)

At 31 December 2020 and  
1 January 2021 128,440 1,844,369 1,972,809 (4,463) 1,968,346

Loss for the year — (66,416) (66,416) (3,218) (69,634)

Other comprehensive income — 42,611 42,611 1,328 43,939     

Total comprehensive income 
for the year — (23,805) (23,805) (1,890) (25,695)     

Change in ownership interests  
in subsidiaries without change  
of control — 10,091 10,091 (10,091) —          

At 31 December 2021 128,440 1,830,655 1,959,095 (16,444) 1,942,651

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash flows (used in)/generated from operating activities
Cash (used in)/generated from operations 26(a) (41,771) 630,278
Interest paid (16,533) (26,743)
Income taxes paid (16,675) (12,236) 

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities (74,979) 591,299 

Investing activities
Interest received 1,341 2,234
Payment for property, plant and equipment (78,068) (64,452)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment, and 

lease modifications 26(b) 436 22,938
Repayment of receivables from a landlord 5,460 5,460
Payment for consideration of subsidiaries acquired in prior year — (42,578) 

Net cash used in investing activities (70,831) (76,398) 

Financing activities
Proceeds from bank borrowings 26(c) 1,323,512 1,165,838
Repayments of bank borrowings 26(c) (1,271,240) (1,298,467)
Principal elements of lease payments 26(c) (168,906) (135,501)
Interest elements of lease payments 26(c) (16,764) (14,176)
(Decrease)/increase in loans from non-controlling interests of 

subsidiaries 26(c) (3,109) 2,506
Payment for equity interest acquired from non-controlling 

interests of subsidiaries (2,812) (27,000) 

Net cash used in financing activities (139,319) (306,800)  

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (285,129) 208,101
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 695,088 486,623
Exchange differences on cash and cash equivalents 5,860 364 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 12 415,819 695,088 

The above consolidated cash flow statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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1 GENERAL INFORMATION

Win Hanverky Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are engaged 
in the manufacturing and selling of garment products, including sportswear, high-end functional outerwear, 
high-end fashion apparel, and related accessories. Sales are primarily under original equipment 
manufacturing (“OEM”) arrangements to customers mainly in Europe, the United States, Mainland China 
and other countries, and under retail modes in Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan and 
Singapore. Its production bases are primarily located in Mainland China, Vietnam and Cambodia. Details of 
the principal subsidiaries of the Group are set out in Note 34 to these consolidated financial statements.

The Company is an exempted Company with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap.22, (Law 3 of 
1961, as combined and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address of the Company’s registered office 
is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company has its primary listing on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”).

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are 
set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise 
stated.

 2.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong 
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance. The consolidated financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure 
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange. Significant 
accounting policies adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under historical cost convention except 
the financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are stated at their fair value 
(Note 2.9).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of 
applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or 
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial 
statements are disclosed in Note 4.

The HKICPA has issued a number of new amendments that became applicable for the current 
reporting period. None of the developments have had a material effect on the Group’s result and 
financial position for the current and prior periods. The Group has not applied any new standard, 
amendment or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current reporting period. The Group is in 
the process of making an assessment of what the impact of those developments is expected to be 
in the period of initial adoption. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have 
a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 2.2 Consolidation and equity accounting

  (a) Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over which the Group has control. The 
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from 
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over 
the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the 
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gain on transactions between group 
companies are eliminated. Unrealised gains/losses are also eliminated. When necessary, 
amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform with the Group’s accounting 
policies.

  (b) Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control, 
generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. 
Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Under the 
equity method, the investment is initially recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is 
increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s share of the profit or loss of the investee 
after the date of acquisition.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the 
investment in the associate is impaired in accordance with the policy described in Note 2.8.

  (c) Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The 
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises: the fair values of the 
assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree, the equity 
interests issued by the Group, the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent 
consideration arrangement, and the fair value of any pre-existing interest in the subsidiary. 
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of 
the acquired entity’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the carrying value of the acquirer’s 
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition 
date; any gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are recognised in the income 
statement.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

52 2021 Annual Report  Win Hanverky Holdings Limited

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 2.2 Consolidation and equity accounting (Continued)

  (c) Business combinations (Continued)

Any consideration to be transferred by the Group classified as financial liabilities is recognised 
at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the consideration 
that is classified as financial liabilities are recognised in the income statement. Consideration 
that is classified as equity is not re-measured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for 
within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over 
the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total of 
consideration transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and previously held interest 
measured is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of 
a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the income statement.

  (d) Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted 
for as equity transactions — that is, as transactions with the owners in their capacity as 
owners. The difference between fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant share 
acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or 
losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

  (e) Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity is re-measured to 
its fair value at the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in 
the income statement. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of 
subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial 
asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in 
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related 
assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income are reclassified to the income statement.

 2.3 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost also includes direct 
attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on 
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon receiving a dividend from 
these investments if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the 
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial 
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the investee’s 
net assets including goodwill.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 2.4 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the 
chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating 
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the 
Executive Committee comprising the executive directors who make strategic decisions.

 2.5 Foreign currency translation

  (a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using 
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the 
“functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong 
Dollar (“HK$”), which is the Company’s functional and the Group’s presentation currency, 
unless otherwise stated.

  (b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange 
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from 
the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement.

  (c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a 
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation 
currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at 
the closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position;

(ii) income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates 
(unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the 
rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are 
translated at the rate on the dates of the transactions); and

(iii) all resulting currency translation differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as 
assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. Currency 
translation differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 2.6 Property, plant and equipment, leased assets and lease liabilities

  (a) Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings comprise mainly manufacturing factories and offices. Property, plant and 
equipment other than construction in progress are stated at historical cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses (Note 2.6(c) and Note 2.8). Historical cost 
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Construction in progress represents buildings and leasehold improvements in which 
construction work has not been completed and plant, machinery and equipment pending for 
installation. It is carried at cost which includes construction expenditures and other direct costs 
less any impairment losses. On completion, construction in progress is transferred to the 
appropriate categories of property, plant and equipment at cost less accumulated impairment 
losses (Note 2.8). No depreciation is provided for construction in progress until it is completed 
and available for use.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate 
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with 
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The 
carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are 
charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the 
end of each reporting period.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount 
and are recognised within ‘other net income’ in the income statement.

  (b) Leased assets and lease liabilities

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A 
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an 
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where 
the customer has both the right to direct the use of the identified assets and to obtain 
substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease 
liability, except for short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of 
low-value assets. The lease payments associated with those leases which are not capitalised 
are recognised as an expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 2.6 Property, plant and equipment, leased assets and lease liabilities (Continued)

  (b) Leased assets and lease liabilities (Continued)

Where the lease is recognised, the lease liability is initially recognised at the present value of 
the lease payments payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit in 
the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing 
rate. Lease liabilities include the present value of the fixed payments (including in-substance 
fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivables. After initial recognition, each lease 
payment was allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to 
income statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest 
on the remaining balances of the liability for each period. Variable lease payments that do not 
depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability and 
hence are charged to income statement in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is recognised is initially measured at cost, 
which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or 
before the commencement date, and any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the 
cost of the right-of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the 
underlying asset of to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, 
discounted to their present value, less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is 
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (Note 2.6(c) 
and Note 2.8).

The lease liability is re-measured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from 
a change in an index or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount 
expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the 
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, 
extension of termination option. When the lease liability is re-measured in this way, a 
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is 
recorded in income statement if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been 
reduced to zero.

  (c) Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment and 
right-of-use assets, less their estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-line method as 
follows:

— Freehold land and construction in progress Not depreciated
— Buildings 10 to 50 years
— Leasehold improvements Shorter of the unexpired lease term 

and the estimated useful lives
— Plant and machinery 4 to 10 years
— Furniture and equipment 3 to 10 years
— Motor vehicles and yacht 5 to 10 years
— Right-of-use assets Shorter of the unexpired lease term 

and the estimated useful lives
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 2.7 Intangible assets

  (a) Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and associates and represents the excess of 
the consideration transferred over the Group’s interest in, net fair value of the net identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree and the fair value of the non-
controlling interest in the acquiree. Goodwill is not amortised but it is tested annually or more 
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is 
allocated to each of the cash-generating units (“CGUs”), or groups of CGUs, that is expected 
to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of units to which the 
goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is 
monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment 
level.

  (b) Trademarks, customer relationship and know-how

Separately acquired trademarks, customer relationship and know-how are shown at historical 
cost. Trademarks, customer relationship and know-how acquired in a business combination are 
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Trademarks, customer relationship and know-
how have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses, if any. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line 
method to allocate the cost of trademarks, customer relationship and know-how over their 
estimated useful lives of 10 to 20 years.

 2.8 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation, and are tested at least 
annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less 
costs of disposal and value in use (“VIU”). For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are 
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (i.e. CGUs). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of 
the impairment at each reporting date.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 2.9 Financial assets

  (a) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

— those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive 
income, or through profit or loss); and

— those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets 
and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or 
other comprehensive income. For investments in equity instruments that are not held for 
trading, this will depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of 
initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value through other 
comprehensive income. The Group reclassifies debts instruments only when its business model 
for managing these assets changes.

  (b) Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade-date — the 
date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are 
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or 
have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of 
ownership.

  (c) Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of 
a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried 
at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in the income statement.

   Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for 
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. Assets that are held for 
collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of 
principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial 
assets is included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss 
arising on derecognition is recognised directly in the income statement and presented in other 
net income, together with foreign exchange gains and losses.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 2.9 Financial assets (Continued)

  (c) Measurement (Continued)

   Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the Group’s 
management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in other 
comprehensive income, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to 
the income statement following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such 
investments continue to be recognised in the income statement as other income when the 
Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognised 
as other net income in the income statement as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of 
impairment losses) on equity investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income are not reported separately from other changes in fair value.

  (d) Impairment

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there was objective evidence 
that a financial asset or group of financial assets was impaired. A financial asset or a group of 
financial assets was impaired and impairment losses were incurred only if there was objective 
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset (a “loss event”) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that could be 
reliably estimated.

For loans and receivables which are financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of 
the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been 
incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount 
of the asset is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement. If, 
in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease could 
be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an 
improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of the previously recognised impairment 
loss is recognised in the income statement.

  (e) Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of 
financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and 
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 2.10 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using 
weighted average method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw 
materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related production overheads (based on normal 
operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs. Costs of purchased inventories are determined after 
deducting rebates and discounts. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

 2.11 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services performed in the 
ordinary course of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is expected in one year or 
less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets. 
If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.

 2.12 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and on 
hand and short-term bank deposits.

 2.13 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as 
a deduction from the proceeds.

 2.14 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations for goods or services that have been acquired. Trade payables are 
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating 
cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 2.15 Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 
subsequently carried at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction 
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the 
borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are 
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the 
facility will be drawn down, and the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there 
is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is 
capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to 
which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the statement of financial position when the obligation specified in the 
contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a 
financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration 
paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in the income 
statement as finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or 
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to 
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as 
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their 
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 2.16 Current and deferred tax

Tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income 
statement, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity. In this case the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in 
equity, respectively.

  (a) Current tax

Current tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted 
at the end of the reporting period in the countries where the Company’s subsidiaries and 
associates operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions 
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to 
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to 
be paid to the tax authorities.

  (b) Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated 
financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the 
initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred tax is also not accounted for if it arises from initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at 
the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax is 
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date and are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the 
deferred tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable profit will be 
available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the 
carrying amount and tax bases of investments in foreign operations where the Group is able to 
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the 
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred tax assets and liabilities 
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or 
different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balance on a net basis.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 2.17 Employee benefits

  (a) Post-employment obligation

Group companies operate several defined contribution retirement schemes.

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions 
into a separate entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further 
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits 
relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.

The Group pays contributions to publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans on 
a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The Group has no further payment obligations 
once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit 
expenses when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent 
that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

  (b) Share-based compensation

The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of the options is 
recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The total amount to be 
expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted:

— including any market performance conditions (for example, an entity’s share price);

— excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions (for 
example, profitability, sales growth targets and remaining an employee of the entity over 
a specified time period); and

— including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (for example, the requirement for 
employees to save).

Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that 
are expected to vest. The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the 
period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each 
reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to 
vest based on the non-market performance and service conditions. It recognises the impact of 
the revision to original estimates, if any, in the income statement, with a corresponding 
adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The proceeds received net 
of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) and 
share premium.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 2.17 Employee benefits (Continued)

  (c) Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses. It recognises a provision where 
contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive 
obligation.

  (d) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A 
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by 
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of 
leave.

  (e) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Group before the 
normal retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange 
for these benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits at the earliest of the following 
dates: (a) when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) when the 
entity recognises costs for a restructuring that is within the scope of Hong Kong Accounting 
Standard (“HKAS”) 37 and involves the payment of termination benefits. In the case of an offer 
made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination benefits are measured based on the 
number of employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12 months 
after the end of the reporting period are discounted to their present value.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 2.18 Provisions, contingent liabilities and financial guarantee

  (a) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the 
obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for 
future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required 
in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is 
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the 
same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to 
settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to 
the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

  (b) Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence 
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future 
events not wholly within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation arising 
from past events that is not recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of 
economic resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the financial statements. When a 
change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it will then be 
recognised as a provision.

  (c) Financial guarantee

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the issuer to make specified payments 
to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments 
when due, in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. The Company has given certain 
financial guarantees to banks, financial institutions and other bodies on behalf of its 
subsidiaries to secure loans, overdrafts and other banking facilities. The Company does not 
recognise liabilities for financial guarantees at inception, but performs a liability adequacy test 
at each reporting date by comparing its net liability regarding the financial guarantee with the 
amount that would be required if the financial guarantee were to result in a present legal or 
constructive obligation.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 2.19 Revenue and other income

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, and represents 
amounts receivable for goods supplied, stated net of discounts, returns and value added taxes. The 
Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured; when it is 
probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity; and when specific criteria have been 
met for each of the Group’s activities, as described below. The Group bases its estimates of return 
on historical results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the 
specifics of each arrangement.

  (a) Sale of goods — wholesale

Sales are recognised when control of the products has transferred and there is no unfulfilled 
obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when 
the products have been transported to the specified location, the risks of obsolescence and 
loss have been transferred to the customer, and either the customer has accepted the 
products in accordance with the sales contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the 
group has objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied.

As receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered as this is the point in time that the 
consideration is unconditional because only the passage of time is required before the 
payment is due.

  (b) Sale of goods — retail

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when a group entity sells a product to the 
customer.

Payment of the transaction price is due immediately when the customer purchases the goods 
and takes delivery in store.

  (c) Service income

Revenue is recognised over time based on work performed by which performance obligation is 
satisfied through the transfer of service to customer.

  (d) Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. When a loan and receivable 
is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the 
estimated future cash flow discounted at the original effective interest rate of the instrument, 
and continues unwinding the discount as interest income. Interest income on impaired loan 
and receivables is recognised using the original effective interest rate.

  (e) Rental income

Rental income is recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of 
the lease.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 2.20 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance 
that the grant will be received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the income statement over the 
period necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate.

 2.21 Dividend distributions

Dividend distributions to the Company’s equity holders are recognised as a liability in the Group’s 
and the Company’s financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the 
Company’s shareholders or directors where appropriate.

 2.22 Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity that has been ceased, disposed of or is 
classified as held for sale and that represents a separate major line of business or geographical area 
of operations, is part of a single co-ordinated plan to disposal of such a line of business or area of 
operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. The results of discontinued 
operations are presented separately in the income statement.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

 3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign exchange risk, credit risk, 
liquidity risk and cash flow and fair value interest-rate risk.

The Group’s risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and, 
where considered necessary, seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial 
performance. The Group has not used derivative financial instruments to hedge its risk exposures to 
changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates.

  (a) Foreign exchange risk

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, 
primarily with respect to the Chinese Renminbi (“RMB”) and United States Dollar (“USD”). 
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and 
liabilities, and net investments in foreign operations.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

 3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

  (a) Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021, if RMB had strengthened/weakened by 5% (2020: 5%) against the 
HK$ with all other variables held constant, loss for the year (2020: loss) would have been 
approximately HK$6,527,000 lower/higher (2020: HK$7,234,000 lower/higher) mainly as a result 
of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of RMB denominated inter-company balances, 
trade and other payables, borrowings, cash and bank balances, and trade and other 
receivables.

The foreign currency exchange exposure on assets and liabilities denominated in USD is 
considered to be minimal as HK$ is currently pegged to USD.

  (b) Credit risk

Credit risk arises from pledged bank deposits and cash and bank balances, deposits and other 
receivables, as well as credit exposures to customers, including trade and bills receivable.

   Trade and bills receivable

Debtors of the Group may be affected by the unfavourable economic conditions and the lower 
liquidity situation which could in turn impact their ability to repay the amounts owed to the 
Group. Deteriorating operating conditions for debtors may also have an impact on 
management’s cash flow forecasts and assessment of the impairment of receivables. To the 
extent that information is available, management has properly reflected updated estimates of 
expected future cash flows in their impairment assessments.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to customers with an 
appropriate credit history. It performs periodic credit evaluations/reviews of its customers.

Majority of trade receivables are with customers having good credit history. The Group usually 
grants its customers credit terms within 90 days. Most of the Group’s sales are on open 
account, while sales made to a small number of customers are covered by letters of credit 
issued by banks or settled by documents against payment issued by banks.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s trade and bills receivable due from one single group of 
customer (2020: one single group of customer) represented approximately 47% (2020: 44%) of 
its total trade and bills receivable from third parties.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure expected credit losses which 
uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade and bills receivable. To measure the 
expected credit losses, trade and bills receivable have been grouped based on shared credit 
risk characteristics and the days past due.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

 3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

  (b) Credit risk (Continued)

   Trade and bills receivable (Continued)

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of 12 
months before 31 December 2021 and 2020 respectively and the corresponding historical 
credit losses experienced within this period. The historical loss rates are further adjusted to 
reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability 
of the customers to settle the receivables.

In the course of evaluating relevant forward-looking information, the Group has identified the 
changes of the credit ratings of the key industry participants or gross domestic product of the 
countries in which it sells its goods to be the most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts 
the historical loss rates based on expected changes in these factors.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, write-back of loss allowance of HK$2,109,000 (2020: 
loss allowance HK$3,886,000) was recognised from continuing operations.

Trade and bills receivable are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. 
Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the 
failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the group, and a failure to make 
contractual payments for a period greater than a year past due.

Impairment losses on trade and bills receivable are presented as net impairment losses in 
general and administrative expenses. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off 
are credited against the same line item.

   Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost include deposits and other receivables. Management 
performs regular assessment on credit risk associated with these amounts based on the 
repayment history and financial position of the counterparties and other forward-looking 
factors. Management does not expect any losses from non-performance by the counterparties 
as they have no default history in the past and these counterparties had strong capacity to 
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term. Management applies the HKFRS 9 
simplified approach to measure expected credit losses. No impairment losses were provided 
for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

   Cash and cash equivalents

The Group has policies to place deposits and cash and cash equivalents only with major 
financial institutions. Management does not expect any losses from non-performance by these 
financial institutions as they have no default history in the past.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

 3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

  (c) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of 
funding from an adequate amount of banking facilities. Certain of the Group’s banking facilities 
are subject to fulfilment of financial covenants as required by the banks. The Group regularly 
monitors its compliance with these covenants and re-negotiates to relax the undertakings or 
apply waivers against these undertakings from respective banks when necessary. The Group 
expects that there will be steady cash inflow from operations, coupled with sufficient cash and 
bank balances and based on its financial records and long banking relationships to continue its 
available banking facilities. Amid of COVID-19 continues to impact the Group’s operations, 
management’s assessment indicates that the Group has adequate liquidity and financial 
resources to cover its operating costs and meet its financial obligations as and when they fall 
due in the coming twelve months from the date of these consolidated financial statements.

Surplus cash held by Group entities over and above balances required for working capital 
management is invested in interest-bearing bank accounts and bank deposits with appropriate 
maturities.

   (i)  The Group had access to the following undrawn borrowing facilities at the end of the 
reporting period:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Floating rates 457,160 693,134 

The banking facilities are subject to regular review at various dates in 2022.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

 3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

  (c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

   (ii) Maturities of financial liabilities

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings 
based on the remaining period at the end of the reporting period to the contractual 
maturity dates. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted 
cash flows:

2021

Within  

1 year  

or on 

demand

After  

1 year  

but within  

2 years

After  

2 years 

but within  

5 years

After 

5 years Total

Carrying 

amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Borrowings and interest 942,216 — — — 942,216 942,216

Trade and bills payable 332,282 — — — 332,282 332,282

Accruals and other payables 281,645 — — — 281,645 281,645

Lease liabilities 133,584 81,371 89,428 55,243 359,626 310,542      

1,689,727 81,371 89,428 55,243 1,915,769 1,866,685      

2020

Within  

1 year  

or on 

demand

After  

1 year  

but within  

2 years

After  

2 years but 

within  

5 years

After 

5 years Total

Carrying 

amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Borrowings and interest 889,244 — — — 889,244 889,244

Trade and bills payable 257,525 — — — 257,525 257,525

Accruals and other payables 304,440 — — — 304,440 304,440

Lease liabilities 159,410 74,356 50,268 11,782 295,816 267,411

1,610,619 74,356 50,268 11,782 1,747,025 1,718,620
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

 3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

  (c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

   (ii) Maturities of financial liabilities (Continued)

The table below is a maturity analysis of term loans with repayable on demand clauses 
based on agreed repayment schedules set out in the loan agreements. The amounts 
include interest payments computed using contractual rates.

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 year 63,334 48,677

After 1 year but within 2 years 63,334 62,447
After 2 years but within 5 years 15,833 76,234 

142,501 187,358 

  (d) Cash flow and fair value interest-rate risk

As at 31 December 2021, the Group held interest-bearing assets including the pledged bank 
deposits, short-term bank deposits and amounts due from related parties. The interest-bearing 
assets are at floating rates.

Except for the bank borrowings as at 31 December 2021, the Group has no other significant 
interest-bearing liabilities.

At the respective end of the reporting periods, if interest rates had increased/decreased by 
one percentage point and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s loss before tax 
(2020: loss) would increase/decrease by approximately HK$7,128,000 for the year ended 31 
December 2021 (2020: increase/decrease by HK$5,143,000). The fluctuation is attributable to 
interest income from pledged bank deposits, short-term bank deposits, amounts due from 
related parties and interest expense on bank borrowings.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

 3.2 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern in order to provide returns for the Company’s shareholders and benefits for other 
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. In order to 
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to 
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the net gearing 
ratio. This ratio is calculated as total borrowings (including bank borrowings and loans from non-
controlling interests of subsidiaries) less cash and bank balances, divided by total equity.

The net gearing ratios at 31 December 2021 and 2020 were as follows:

2021 2020
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank borrowings 15 942,216 889,244
Loans from non-controlling interests of subsidiaries 27(d) 4,312 7,421
Less: Cash and bank balances 12 (415,819) (695,088) 

530,709 201,577 

Total equity 1,942,651 1,968,346 

Net gearing ratio 27.3% 10.2% 

The increase in net gearing ratio above resulted primarily from increase in bank borrowings and 
decrease in cash and bank balances.

 3.3 Fair value estimation

The carrying values of pledged bank deposits and cash and bank balances approximate their fair 
values.

The carrying values less impairment provision of trade and bills receivable, trade and bills payable, 
financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost and financial assets at fair value through 
other comprehensive income are a reasonable approximation of their fair values.

The carrying values of borrowings approximate their fair values since the interest payable on these 
borrowings is either close to current market rates or the borrowings are of a short-term nature.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates 
will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year are addressed below.

 (a) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and leased assets

Property, plant and equipment and leased assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The 
recoverable amounts are determined based on VIU calculations or market valuations. These 
calculations require the use of judgements and estimates.

Management judgement is required in the area of asset impairment particularly in assessing: (i) 
whether an event has occurred that may indicate that the related asset value may not be 
recoverable; (ii) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount, 
being the higher of fair value less costs of disposal or net present value of future cash flows which 
are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset in the business; and (iii) the appropriate 
key assumptions to be applied in preparing cash flow projections including whether these cash flow 
projections are discounted using an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected by 
management in assessing impairment, including the discount rates, could materially affect the net 
present value used in the impairment test and as a result affect the Group’s financial position and 
results of operations. If there is a significant adverse change in the projected performance and 
resulting future cash flow projections, it may be necessary to take an impairment charge to the 
income statement.

Given the persistently competitive retail market which may adversely impact the recoverable values of 
the assets used within the retail stores, an asset impairment assessment was carried out against the 
underperforming retail stores and an impairment of property, plant and equipment and leased assets 
of HK$6,332,000 was recognised for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: HK$47,035,000) 
from continuing operations. Each retail store was considered as a separate CGU and the respective 
recoverable amounts were assessed based on VIU calculations. Key assumptions used in the 
calculations included the forecasted sales performance and operating costs of each retail store as 
well as the discount rate applied to the forecasted future cash flows of these retail stores.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, an impairment of property, plant and equipment and 
leased assets of the Group’s fabric and yarn manufacturing and trading business of Win Success 
Holding Limited and its subsidiaries (“e.dye Business”) in the amount of HK$12,984,000 was 
recognised in the discontinued operations (Note 28).
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

 (b) Lease term

In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an 
economic incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension 
options (or periods after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is 
reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated). Most extension options of the leases have not 
been included in the lease liabilities because the extension options are subject to negotiation and 
agreement of both of the Group and the respective lessors.

 (c)  Useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment, leased assets 
and intangible assets

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives and residual values (if applicable) 
and consequently related depreciation/amortisation charges for its property, plant and equipment, 
leased assets and intangible assets. These estimates are based on the historical experience of the 
actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment, leased assets and intangible assets of similar 
nature and functions, or based on the estimated periods that the Group intends to derive future 
economic benefits from the use of these assets. Management will increase the depreciation/
amortisation charge where useful lives are less than previously estimated, and it will write-off or 
write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.

Actual economic lives may differ from estimated useful lives; and actual residual values may differ 
from estimated residual values. Periodic review could result in a change in depreciable lives and 
residual values and therefore depreciation/amortisation expense in future periods.

 (d) Impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment in accordance with the 
accounting policy stated in Note 2.8. Goodwill is allocated to the high-end apparel manufacturing 
and trading business CGU resulted from the acquisition of Charmtech Industrial Limited and its 
subsidiary (“Charmtech Group”) amounting to HK$33,750,000 and Sport Field Limited and its 
subsidiaries (“Sport Field Group”) amounting to HK$75,709,000, which was included in the 
manufacturing segment; and the high-end fashion retailing business CGU resulted from the 
acquisition of Shine Gold Limited and its subsidiaries (“Shine Gold Group”) amounting to 
HK$90,635,000, which was included in high-end fashion retailing segment.

The recoverable amounts of groups of CGUs have been determined based on VIU or fair value less 
costs of disposal calculations. These calculations require significant judgment and estimates. No 
impairment was recognised against these goodwill during the year ended 31 December 2021.

For goodwill resulted from the acquisition of Charmtech Group and Sport Field Group, if the 
budgeted revenue has been 3% lower or the discount rate used in the VIU calculation has been 1% 
higher than management’s estimates as at 31 December 2021, still no impairment against goodwill 
would be recognised by the Group.

For goodwill resulted from the acquisition of Shine Gold Group, if the budgeted gross margin 
percentage has been 3% lower or the discount rate used in the fair value less costs of disposal 
calculation has been 1% higher than management’s estimates as at 31 December 2021, still no 
impairment against goodwill would be recognised by the Group.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

 (e)  Impairment of trademarks, customer relationship and know-how

The Group tests whether trademarks, customer relationship and know-how have suffered any 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not 
be recoverable in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2.8. The Group’s customer 
relationship arose from the acquisition of Sport Field Group. Its recoverable amount was assessed in 
the impairment assessment together with the goodwill of Sport Field Group (Note 4(d)).

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group’s know-how arose from the acquisition of 
e.dye Business was fully impaired and an amount of HK$19,984,000 was recognised in the 
discontinued operations (Note 28).

 (f) Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, 
less estimated costs of completion and selling expenses. These estimates are based on current 
market conditions and the historical experience of manufacturing and selling products of similar 
nature. It could change significantly as a result of changes in customer taste and competitor actions 
in response to changes in market conditions. Management reassesses these estimates at the end of 
each reporting period.

 (g) Trade and bills receivable and other financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Group’s management determines the provision for impairment of trade and bills receivable 
based on the expected credit loss of the receivables. This assessment is based on the historical 
repayment pattern of customers of similar nature and other forward-looking factors such as current 
market conditions where applicable, and requires the use of judgements and estimates. 
Management reassesses the impairment at the end of each reporting period.

 (h) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in 
determining the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which 
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group 
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes 
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were 
initially recorded, such differences will impact the current tax and deferred tax provisions in the 
period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences and tax losses are recognised when 
management expects it is probable that future taxable profits will be available to utilise the 
temporary differences or tax losses. Management reassesses its expectation at the end of each 
reporting period based on the latest business plan and forecasts.
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified collectively as the executive directors. The 
executive directors review the Group’s internal reporting in order to assess performance and allocate 
resources and report segment performance based on internal reporting.

The executive directors review the performance of the Group mainly from a business operation 
perspective. The major business segments of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 are 
Manufacturing and High-end Fashion Retailing.

• The Manufacturing segment represents manufacturing and sales of (i) sportswear and 
(ii) high-end functional outerwear of which both primarily under OEM arrangements to customers 
mainly in Europe, the United States, Mainland China and other countries.

• The High-end Fashion Retailing segment represents retailing of high-end fashion products in Mainland 
China, Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan and Singapore. 

• The e.dye segment represented manufacturing and sales of fabric and yarn products. It was disposed 
of in 2020 and regarded as discontinued operations (Note 28).

The executive directors assess the performance of the business segments based on a measure of 
operating results of each segment, which excludes net finance costs in the result for each operating 
segment. Other information provided to the executive directors is measured in a manner consistent with 
that in the consolidated financial statements.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customer by products or service lines is as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Continuing operations

Sales of goods 4,127,888 4,012,248
Provision of services 8,715 9,154 

4,136,603 4,021,402 

For the year ended 31 December 2021, revenues of approximately HK$2,120,556,000 (2020: 
HK$2,029,451,000), representing 51.3% (2020: 50.5%) of the Group’s total revenue from continuing 
operations, were derived from a single group of external customers. These revenues are attributable to the 
Manufacturing segment.
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The segment results for the year ended 31 December 2021 are as follows:

Manufacturing 

Sportswear  
Manufacturing

High-end  
Functional 
Outerwear 

Manufacturing

High-end  
Fashion  

Retailing Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

Total segment revenue 2,414,285 515,038 1,208,358 4,137,681
Inter-segment revenue (1,078) — — (1,078)    

Revenue 2,413,207 515,038 1,208,358 4,136,603    

Operating (loss)/profit and  
segment results (60,003) (4,287) 13,413 (50,877)

Finance costs — net (32,074)
Share of profits of associates 312 — — 312 

Loss before income tax (82,639)
Income tax credit 13,005 

Loss for the year (69,634) 

Other segment items included in the consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 
2021 are as follows:

Depreciation and amortisation of 
property, plant and equipment, 
and leased assets 102,045 13,069 160,827 275,941

Amortisation of intangible assets — 2,130 698 2,828
Impairment of/(write-back of 

impairment), net: 
—  property, plant and equipment, 

and leased assets — — 6,332 6,332
— trade receivables — (2,109) — (2,109)
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, 

plant and equipment, and lease 
modifications, net (1,201) 174 405 (622)

Provision/(write-back of provision)  
for inventories, net 39,190 6,053 (33,163) 12,080    

Inter-segment transactions are conducted at terms mutually agreed among group companies.
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The segment results for the year ended 31 December 2020 (discontinued operations – e.dye Business for 
the period from 1 January to 20 August 2020) are as follows:

Manufacturing 

Sportswear  
Manufacturing

High-end 
Functional 
Outerwear 

Manufacturing

High-end 
Fashion 

Retailing

Total 
Continuing 
Operations

Discontinued 
Operations 

– e.dye 
(Note 28) Total 

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total segment revenue 2,393,775 392,524 1,239,786 4,026,085 26,008 4,052,093
Inter-segment revenue (3,149) (1,534) — (4,683) (741) (5,424)

Revenue 2,390,626 390,990 1,239,786 4,021,402 25,267 4,046,669

Operating (loss)/profit and  
segment results (59,861) (8,890) 21,683 (47,068) (94,544) (141,612)

Finance costs — net (36,119) (2,727) (38,846)
Share of profits of associates 756 — — 756 — 756

Loss before income tax (82,431) (97,271) (179,702)
Income tax expense (1,354) — (1,354)
Loss on disposal of  

discontinued operations — (7,457) (7,457)

Loss for the year/period (83,785) (104,728) (188,513)

Other segment items included in the consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 
2020 (discontinued operations – e.dye Business for the period from 1 January to 20 August 2020) are as 
follows:

Depreciation and amortisation of property, 
plant and equipment, and leased assets 104,283 13,717 173,824 291,824 3,270 295,094

Amortisation of intangible assets — 2,130 698 2,828 1,874 4,702
Impairment of, net:
—  property, plant and equipment, and  

leased assets — — 47,035 47,035 12,984 60,019
— intangible assets — — — — 19,984 19,984
— trade receivables — 2,222 1,664 3,886 6,641 10,527
— other receivables — — — — 22,587 22,587
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and 

equipment, and lease modifications, net (221) 282 (6,801) (6,740) — (6,740)
Provision/(write-back of provision) 

for inventories, net 27,112 5,296 (44,325) (11,917) 11,637 (280)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries, net — — — — 7,457 7,457

Inter-segment transactions are conducted at terms mutually agreed among group companies.
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The segment assets and liabilities are as follows:

Manufacturing

Sportswear  
Manufacturing

High-end 
Functional 
Outerwear 

Manufacturing

High-end  
Fashion  

Retailing Unallocated Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total assets

31 December 2021 2,069,552 488,475 1,268,999 118,231 3,945,257

31 December 2020 2,020,097 383,877 1,320,749 94,307 3,819,030     

Total liabilities

31 December 2021 1,032,808 279,605 608,374 81,819 2,002,606

31 December 2020 991,928 185,117 586,442 87,197 1,850,684     

Segment assets/liabilities exclude current tax recoverables/liabilities and deferred tax assets/liabilities which 
are managed on a group basis.

The Group’s revenue by geographical location is determined by the final destination of delivery of the 
products. The Group’s revenue from external customers by geographical location is as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Continuing operations
Mainland China 1,790,829 1,705,233
Europe 904,868 963,179
United States 614,612 499,823
Other Asian countries 506,289 531,412
Hong Kong 165,218 194,408
Canada 38,429 35,216
Others 116,358 92,131 

4,136,603 4,021,402 

The total of non-current assets other than deferred tax assets by geographical location is as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Mainland China 476,985 490,745
Hong Kong 401,366 391,274
Vietnam 268,239 240,099
Cambodia 177,150 199,532
Others 18,158 7,893 

1,341,898 1,329,543 
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6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

 (a) Reconciliation of net book amount

Freehold
 land

Land and
 buildings

Leasehold
improvements

Construction
in progress

Plant and
machinery

Furniture
and

equipment

Motor
vehicles

and yacht Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Year ended 31 December 2020
Opening net book amount 44,906 688,482 292,442 11,998 172,189 109,733 10,341 1,330,091
Additions — 46,422 27,834 5,867 5,374 16,930 4,838 107,265
Transfers — — 12,002 (12,002) — — — —
Disposals — (1,050) (11,810) — (385) (4,264) (16) (17,525)
Impairment — (39,792) (7,243) — (12,984) — — (60,019)
Lease modifications — (55,583) — — — — — (55,583)
Disposal of subsidiaries — (3,647) (537) — (448) (668) (218) (5,518)
Depreciation and amortisation — (151,812) (81,625) — (36,913) (21,549) (3,195) (295,094)
Currency translation differences — 14,378 7,936 98 2,705 1,079 209 26,405

Closing net book amount 44,906 497,398 238,999 5,961 129,538 101,261 11,959 1,030,022

At 31 December 2020
Cost 44,906 960,483 619,573 5,961 577,204 275,172 56,781 2,540,080
Accumulated depreciation, amortisation  

and impairment — (463,085) (380,574) — (447,666) (173,911) (44,822) (1,510,058)

Net book amount 44,906 497,398 238,999 5,961 129,538 101,261 11,959 1,030,022

Year ended 31 December 2021
Opening net book amount 44,906 497,398 238,999 5,961 129,538 101,261 11,959 1,030,022
Additions — 228,828 48,316 1,815 11,227 19,371 1,799 311,356
Transfers — — 1,667 (1,667) — — — —
Disposals — — (835) — (245) (20) (38) (1,138)
Impairment — (5,633) (699) — — — — (6,332)
Lease modifications — (16,627) — — — — — (16,627)
Depreciation and amortisation — (140,398) (83,139) — (31,327) (17,721) (3,356) (275,941)
Currency translation differences — 7,488 4,188 106 2,025 726 141 14,674        

Closing net book amount 44,906 571,056 208,497 6,215 111,218 103,617 10,505 1,056,014        

At 31 December 2021
Cost 44,906 1,115,150 672,848 6,215 594,047 296,872 56,975 2,787,013
Accumulated depreciation, amortisation  

and impairment — (544,094) (464,351) — (482,829) (193,255) (46,470) (1,730,999)        

Net book amount 44,906 571,056 208,497 6,215 111,218 103,617 10,505 1,056,014        

Notes:

(i) Freehold land are located in the Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan and Cambodia.

(ii) During the year ended 31 December 2021, impairment loss of HK$6,332,000 (2020: HK$47,035,000) had been included 

in “selling and distribution costs” of continuing operations in the consolidated income statement. During the year ended 

31 December 2020, impairment loss of HK$12,984,000 had been included in “other net expenses” in the consolidated 

income statement of discontinued operations (Note 28).

(iii) As at 31 December 2021, land and properties with carrying value of HK$55,081,000 (2020: HK$57,494,000) were pledged 

to banks for certain banking facilities of the Group (Note 15).
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6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(b) Right-of-use assets

(i) Net book amounts of right-of-use assets by class and related lease liabilities are as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000 

Right-of-use assets
Land and buildings 433,204 354,163
Furniture and equipment 356 455 

433,560 354,618 

Lease liabilities
Current 112,830 141,598
Non-current 197,712 125,813 

310,542 267,411 

(ii) Expense items in relation to leases:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000  

Continuing operations 
Depreciation and amortisation
— Land and buildings 134,103 144,261
— Furniture and equipment 292 270
Variable lease payments not included in lease liabilities 71,565 81,864
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 20) 16,764 14,057
Short-term leases and leases of low value assets 13,836 10,186 

(iii) Other items in relation to leases:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000  

Additions of right-of-use assets 229,020 48,484
Total cash outflow for leases 271,071 241,882 
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6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(b) Right-of-use assets (Continued)

(iv) The Group leases various land, retail shops, offices, warehouses, plant and equipment. Lease 
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and 
conditions. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 10 years, but may 
have extension and termination options. These are used to maximise operational flexibility in 
terms of managing the assets used in the Group’s operations.

(v) The Group leased a number of retail stores which contain variable lease payment terms that 
are based on sales generated. For individual stores, up to 100% of lease payments are on the 
basis of variable payment terms with percentage ranging from 3% to 30% (2020: 5% to 34%) 
of sales. Variable lease payments that depend on sales are recognised in income statement in 
the period in which the condition that triggers those payments occurs. As at 31 December 
2021, it is estimated that an increase in sales generated from these retail stores by 5% would 
have increased the lease payments by HK$3,578,000 (2020: HK$4,093,000).

7 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill
Customer 

relationship Trademarks Know-how Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Year ended 31 December 2020
Opening net book amount 200,094 17,216 9,660 21,858 248,828
Amortisation — (2,130) (698) (1,874) (4,702)
Impairment (Note 28) — — — (19,984) (19,984)

Closing net book amount 200,094 15,086 8,962 — 224,142

At 31 December 2020
Cost 200,094 21,298 13,966 37,471 272,829
Accumulated amortisation and impairment — (6,212) (5,004) (37,471) (48,687)

Net book amount 200,094 15,086 8,962 — 224,142

Year ended 31 December 2021
Opening net book amount 200,094 15,086 8,962 — 224,142
Amortisation — (2,130) (698) — (2,828)     

Closing net book amount 200,094 12,956 8,264 — 221,314     

At 31 December 2021
Cost 200,094 21,298 13,966 — 235,358
Accumulated amortisation and impairment — (8,342) (5,702) — (14,044)     

Net book amount 200,094 12,956 8,264 — 221,314     

The amortisation charges for customer relationship and trademarks are included in “selling and distribution 
costs” of continuing operations in the consolidated income statement. The amortisation charge and 
impairment for know-how are included in “cost of sales” and “other net expenses” in the consolidated 
income statement of discontinued operations.
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7 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

 Impairment tests for goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to two separate groups of CGUs of the Group as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000 

High-end apparel manufacturing and trading 109,459 109,459
High-end fashion retailing 90,635 90,635 

200,094 200,094  

The recoverable amounts of the groups of CGUs are determined based on VIU or fair value less costs of 
disposal calculations. These calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections covering a five-year period of 
the related business based on the latest one-year financial budgets and future business plans approved 
by management. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using an estimated growth rate 
of 3% (2020: 3%) which do not exceed the long term average growth rates for the businesses in which 
the CGUs operate. The cash flows are discounted using discount rates of 16%–18% (2020: 16%–19%). 
The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant business segments. 
The fair value less costs of disposal calculation is a level 3 fair value measurement.

Management determined revenue growth and budgeted gross margin based on past performance and its 
expectations of market development. No impairment was recognised in respect of the high-end apparel 
manufacturing and trading business and high-end fashion retailing business CGUs during the year ended 
31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).
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8 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements 15,274 14,864 

Share of effective interest for the year:
— profits 312 756
— reserve movements 98 241 

Set out below are the major associates of the Group as at 31 December 2021. The associates as listed 
below have share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held indirectly by the Company.

Name

Place of incorporation and 

type of legal entity

Percentage 

of ownership interest Nature

Measurement 

method

2021 2020 

Fu Hsun Bowker Dyeing Factory 

(Heyuan) Company Limited

Mainland China, 

wholly foreign owned 

enterprise

30% 30% Property 

holding

Equity

Fu Hsun Investment Company Limited BVI, limited liability company 30% 30% Investment 

holding

Equity

Fu Jin Bowker Company Limited BVI, limited liability company 30% 30% Inactive Equity 

The associates above are private companies and there is no quoted market price for their shares.

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interests in the associates.

The directors are of the opinion that the associates are not material to the Group. Accordingly, 
summarised financial information is not presented.

9 INVENTORIES

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Finished goods 676,595 704,187
Work in progress 243,326 132,125
Raw materials 424,594 269,270 

1,344,515 1,105,582 
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10 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLE

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 547,726 449,067
Bills receivable 3,413 6,241 

551,139 455,308
Less: impairment of trade receivables (3,342) (5,366) 

Financial assets measured at amortised cost 547,797 449,942 

Majority of trade receivables are with customers having good credit history. The Group usually grants its 
customers credit terms within 90 days. Most of the Group’s sales are on open account, while sales made 
to a small number of customers are covered by letters of credit issued by banks or settled by documents 
against payment issued by banks. The ageing of trade and bills receivable based on invoice date is as 
follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

0 – 90 days 535,779 434,860
91 – 180 days 10,089 9,814
181 – 365 days 1,036 6,272
Over 365 days 4,235 4,362 

551,139 455,308 

The carrying values of trade and bills receivable approximate their fair values due to their short term 
maturities.
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10 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLE (Continued)

Movements of provision for impairment of trade and bills receivable are as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Beginning of the year 5,366 1,611
(Write-back of impairment)/impairment of trade receivables, net
— Continuing operations (2,109) 3,886
— Discontinued operations (Note 28) — 6,641
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible — (255)
Receivables derecognised upon disposal of discontinued operations — (6,756)
Currency translation differences 85 239 

End of the year 3,342 5,366 

The creation and release of loss allowances have been included in general and administrative expenses. 
Amounts charged to the allowance account are written off when there is no expectation of recovering 
additional cash.

The Group’s trade and bills receivable were denominated in the following currencies:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

United States Dollar 283,041 228,470
Chinese Renminbi 255,741 214,143
Hong Kong Dollar 4,699 5,478
Others 7,658 7,217 

551,139 455,308 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of the trade and bills 
receivable mentioned above. The Group does not hold any collateral.
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11 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND FINANCIAL ASSETS

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000 

Non-current
Rental, utility and other deposits 30,644 37,156
Rental deposit to a related party (Note 27(c)) 484 471 

Financial assets measured at amortised cost 31,128 37,627

Deposits for plant and equipment 18,168 21,699 

49,296 59,326 

Current
Rental, utility and other deposits 60,387 55,094
Other receivables from customers and suppliers 15,399 12,094
Receivables from a related party (Note 27(c)) 13,392 14,104
Other tax receivables 2,245 698
Receivables from a landlord (Note) — 5,460
Sundry receivables 9,521 8,689 

Financial assets measured at amortised cost 100,944 96,139

Value-added tax recoverable 33,349 27,402
Prepayments for operating expenses 25,504 9,155
Prepayments for inventories 15,976 11,872 

175,773 144,568  

225,069 203,894 

Note:  Amounts represented receivables from a landlord in Vietnam which were repayable semi-annually, unsecured, interest-bearing at 
5% (2020: 5%) per annum and denominated in USD.

The carrying amounts of financial assets disclosed above approximate their fair values. The maximum 
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of the items mentioned above. Save as 
disclosed in Note 27(c), the Group does not hold any collateral.

The financial assets disclosed above were denominated in the following currencies:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Chinese Renminbi 52,992 48,499
Hong Kong Dollar 41,310 50,026
United States Dollar 30,930 30,467
Others 6,840 4,774 

132,072 133,766 
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12  PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND BANK BALANCES

 Pledged bank deposits

As at 31 December 2021, bank deposit of RMB1,000,000 equivalent to HK$1,224,000 
(2020: RMB1,000,000 equivalent to HK$1,189,000) was pledged as security deposit at Custom 
Department for custom declaration for a subsidiary of the Group.

The effective interest rate on pledged bank deposits was 2.75% (2020: 2.75%) per annum and the 
pledged bank deposits will mature in 2022 (2020: mature in 2022). 

 Cash and bank balances

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000 

Short-term bank deposits 214,817 361,017
Cash at bank and on hand 201,002 334,071 

Cash and cash equivalents 415,819 695,088 

The effective interest rate on short-term bank deposits was 0.07% (2020: 0.25%) per annum, which have 
maturities of 3 months or less at inception.

Cash and bank balances were denominated in the following currencies:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

United States Dollar 254,198 400,971
Chinese Renminbi 114,415 199,081
Hong Kong Dollar 31,213 72,901
Others 15,993 22,135 

415,819 695,088 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date approximates the carrying values of pledged 
bank deposits and cash and bank balances.

Cash and bank deposits of HK$130,169,000 (2020: HK$203,977,000) held in Mainland China and Vietnam 
are subject to local exchange control regulations. These local exchange control regulations provide 
restrictions on remitting funds out of these countries, other than through normal dividends. 
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13 TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLE

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables
— to third parties 313,674 242,256
— to a related party (Note 27(b)) 15,229 13,322
Bills payable 3,379 1,947 

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 332,282 257,525
 

The ageing of trade and bills payable based on invoice date is as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

0 – 90 days 309,405 239,513
91 – 180 days 22,549 12,482
181 – 365 days 152 1,228
Over 365 days 176 4,302 

332,282 257,525 

The Group’s trade and bills payable were denominated in the following currencies:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

United States Dollar 238,887 207,201
Chinese Renminbi 70,199 38,973
Hong Kong Dollar 23,080 10,390
Others 116 961 

332,282 257,525 
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14 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000 

Current
Accruals for employee benefit costs 138,162 137,760
Accruals for other operating expenses 71,885 62,839
Payables for purchases of property, plant and equipment 30,371 27,320
Other taxes payable 19,248 22,924
Payables to related parties (Note 27(d)) 7,452 10,561
Deposits received 5,658 28,721
Payable for acquisition of interests from non-controlling interests 

of subsidiaries — 2,812
Others 8,869 11,503 

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 281,645 304,440

Contract liabilities 16,519 123
Provision for re-instatement of leased assets 14,108 8,330
Deferred income 7,042 15,860 

319,314 328,753 

Non-current
Deferred income 9,373 10,138
Provision for re-instatement of leased assets 7,060 10,416 

16,433 20,554  

335,747 349,307 
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15 BORROWINGS

The analysis of the carrying amount of interest-bearing bank borrowings were as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 year or on demand 942,216 889,244 

Effective interest rate — floating 1.7% p.a. 1.7% p.a. 

The Group’s borrowings were carried at amortised cost. As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group’s 
borrowings were secured by certain land and properties (Note 6) of the Group and/or corporate 
guarantees given by the Company and/or personal guarantees given by certain related parties.

Details of the Group’s management of liquidity risk are set out in Note 3.1(c).

As at 31 December 2021, based on the repayment dates set out in the payment schedules ignoring the 
effect of any repayment on demand clause, the interest-bearing bank borrowings were due for repayment 
as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 year 863,049 754,240
After 1 year but within 2 years 63,334 59,995
After 2 years but within 3 years 15,833 59,995
After 3 years but within 4 years — 15,014 

942,216 889,244 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings were denominated in the following currencies:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong Dollar 495,300 530,153
United States Dollar 373,476 335,311
Chinese Renminbi 73,440 23,780 

942,216 889,244 
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16 DEFERRED TAX

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes relate to the same tax jurisdiction. The 
net movement on the deferred tax assets/(liabilities) are as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Beginning of the year 85,139 63,227
Recognised in the income statement (Note 23) 21,838 21,914
Currency translation differences 645 (2) 

End of the year 107,622 85,139 

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities without taking into consideration the offsetting of 
balances within the same tax jurisdiction, are as follows:

Deferred tax assets:

Tax

depreciation Tax losses

Unrealised

profit

Inventory

provisions Others Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2020 8,359 43,271 9,901 13,502 4,811 79,844

Recognised in the income statement 2,722 17,610 (1,095) 5,684 1,514 26,435

Currency translation differences 141 73 — — — 214

At 31 December 2020 11,222 60,954 8,806 19,186 6,325 106,493

Set-off pursuant to set-off provisions (13,618)

Net deferred tax assets 92,875

At 1 January 2021 11,222 60,954 8,806 19,186 6,325 106,493

Recognised in the income statement (360) 15,576 4,023 7,335 (1,654) 24,920

Currency translation differences 68 498 (8) — 183 741      

At 31 December 2021 10,930 77,028 12,821 26,521 4,854 132,154

Set-off pursuant to set-off provisions (17,079)      

Net deferred tax assets 115,075      
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16 DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities:

Tax

depreciation

Fair value

gains

Withholding

tax on

undistributed

earnings Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2020 (9,424) (6,396) (797) (16,617)

Recognised in the income statement (1,186) 412 (3,747) (4,521)

Currency translation differences — (216) — (216)

At 31 December 2020 (10,610) (6,200) (4,544) (21,354)

Set-off pursuant to set-off provisions 13,618

Net deferred tax liabilities (7,736)

At 1 January 2021 (10,610) (6,200) (4,544) (21,354)

Recognised in the income statement (1,622) 429 (1,889) (3,082)

Currency translation differences — (96) — (96)    

At 31 December 2021 (12,232) (5,867) (6,433) (24,532)

Set-off pursuant to set-off provisions 17,079    

Net deferred tax liabilities (7,453)    

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-forward to the extent that the realisation of the 
related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not 
recognise deferred tax assets of HK$130,142,000 (2020: HK$137,775,000) in respect of tax losses 
amounting to HK$702,221,000 (2020: HK$743,670,000) that can be carried forward against future taxable 
income. Total unrecognised tax losses of HK$575,723,000 (2020: HK$569,200,000) can be carried forward 
indefinitely; while cumulative tax losses of HK$126,498,000 (2020: HK$174,470,000) will expire from 2022 
to 2031 (2020: 2021 to 2030).

Deferred tax liabilities of HK$52,258,000 (2020: HK$57,934,000) have not been recognised for the 
withholding tax that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries, as it is 
management’s intention to reinvest such amounts in the foreseeable future. The said unremitted earnings 
totalled HK$597,206,000 as at 31 December 2021 (2020: HK$632,398,000).
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17 SHARE CAPITAL

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Authorised
3,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each 300,000 300,000 

Issued and fully paid up
1,284,400,000 ordinary shares at beginning and end of the year 128,440 128,440

 Share options

In August 2006, the Company established a share option scheme (“Share Option Scheme”) which 
remained in force for 10 years and expired on 5 September 2016, no share option can be further granted 
thereunder, whereas outstanding share options under the Share Option Scheme remain valid.

Pursuant to the resolution of Shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company on 16 June 
2016, a new share option scheme (“New Share Option Scheme”) has been adopted. Under the New 
Share Option Scheme, share options may be granted to any directors, employees, or partners of the 
Group. The exercise price is to be determined by the Board, and will not be less than the highest of (i) 
the closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the 
Company’s shares for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal 
value of the Company’s share.

The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle these options in cash.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there were 31,000,000 (2020: 31,000,000) share options 
exercisable with weighted average exercise price HK$1.155 per share (2020: HK$1.155 per share). The 
outstanding share options have the following expiry dates and exercise prices:

Expiry date
Exercise price

per share

Number of options

2021 2020
HK$ ’000 ’000

8 January 2024 1.010 5,000 5,000
15 July 2024 0.946 16,000 16,000
21 December 2025 1.562 10,000 10,000 

31,000 31,000 

During the year ended 31 December 2021, no share option expenses was charged to the consolidated 
income statement (2020: HK$171,000).
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18 RESERVES

Share
premium

Share-
based

payment
reserve

Statutory
reserve

Foreign
currency

translation
reserve

Other
reserves

Retained
earnings Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2020 692,227 10,301 16,801 (47,753) 210,632 1,146,499 2,028,707

Loss attributable to equity holders of  
the Company — — — — — (233,821) (233,821)

Currency translation differences
— Subsidiaries — — — 55,786 — — 55,786
— Associates — — — 241 — — 241
Disposal of subsidiaries — — — 995 — — 995
Change in fair value of financial assets at 

fair value through other comprehensive 
income — — — — (3,950) — (3,950)

Employee share option scheme
— value of services provided — 171 — — — — 171
Transfer to statutory reserve (Note) — — 2,631 — — (2,631) —

Change in ownership interests in  
subsidiaries without change of control — — — — (3,760) — (3,760)

At 31 December 2020 and  
1 January 2021 692,227 10,472 19,432 9,269 202,922 910,047 1,844,369

Loss attributable to equity holders of  
the Company — — — — — (66,416) (66,416)

Currency translation differences
— Subsidiaries — — — 42,513 — — 42,513
— Associates — — — 98 — — 98
Transfer to statutory reserve (Note) — — 5,373 — — (5,373) —

Change in ownership interests in 
subsidiaries without change of control — — — — 10,091 — 10,091       

At 31 December 2021 692,227 10,472 24,805 51,880 213,013 838,258 1,830,655       

Note: As stipulated by regulations in Mainland China, the Company’s subsidiaries established and operated in Mainland China are required 

to appropriate a portion of their after-tax profit (after offsetting prior years’ losses) to the general reserve and the enterprise 

expansion fund, at rates determined by their respective boards of directors. The general reserve can be utilised to offset prior 

year losses or be utilised for the issuance of bonus shares, whilst the enterprise expansion fund can be utilised for the 

development of business operations.
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19 OTHER NET INCOME

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Continuing operations
Government subsidies 4,390 6,471
Rental income 1,406 1,405
Gain on disposal of ancillary materials, net 1,056 1,077
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment,  

and lease modifications, net 622 6,740
Net exchange (loss)/gain (3,944) 10,586
Others 1,055 6,930 

4,585 33,209 

20 FINANCE COSTS — NET

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Continuing operations
Finance income
—  Interest income from bank deposits and receivables  

from a landlord 1,015 1,635
— Interest income from discontinued operations — 2,625
— Others 208 421 

1,223 4,681 

Finance costs
— Interest on lease liabilities (Note 6(b)) (16,764) (14,057)
— Interest on bank borrowings (16,533) (26,743) 

(33,297) (40,800)  

(32,074) (36,119) 
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21 LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Continuing operations
Cost of inventories 2,030,881 2,048,444
Processing and subcontracting charges 115,103 58,428
Depreciation and amortisation 
— property, plant and equipment, and leased assets 277,311 293,174
— capitalised to construction in progress (1,370) (1,350)
Amortisation of intangible assets 2,828 2,828
Impairment of/(write-back of impairment), net
— property, plant and equipment, and leased assets 6,332 47,035
— trade receivables (2,109) 3,886
Rental in respect of retail shops, office equipment and  

land and buildings
— contingent rent 71,565 81,864
— short-term leases and low value assets 13,836 10,186
Auditor’s remuneration
— audit related services 4,080 4,200
— non-audit related services 313 928
Provision/(write-back of provision) for inventories, net 12,080 (11,917) 
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22 EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSE

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000 

Continuing operations
Wages, salaries, commission, allowances, bonus and  

other termination payments 1,082,441 1,040,758
Defined contribution retirement schemes 75,408 44,317
Welfare and other benefits 60,796 47,355
Social insurance and other post-employment benefits 43,440 30,515
Share options granted to directors and employees — 171 

1,262,085 1,163,116 

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had no forfeited contributions available to reduce its contributions to 
the defined contribution retirement schemes in future years (2020: Nil).

 (a) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the year ended 31 
December 2021 include three (2020: three) directors whose emoluments are reflected in Note 33. 
The emoluments paid/payable to the remaining two individual (2020: two individual) during the year 
are as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Basic salaries, commission, share options and 
other allowances 7,441 8,271

Defined contribution retirement schemes 5 18 

7,446 8,289 

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

Number of individuals

2021 2020

HK$2,500,001 – HK$3,000,000 — 1
HK$3,500,001 – HK$4,000,000 2 —

HK$5,000,001 – HK$5,500,000 — 1 

 (b)  During the year ended 31 December 2021, no emoluments were paid by the Company to any of the 
directors or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or 
as compensation for loss of office (2020: Nil).
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23 INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE

The amounts of income tax (credit)/expense (credited)/charged to the consolidated income statement 
represent:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Continuing operations
Current tax
— Mainland China 4,773 19,536
— Hong Kong 2,427 2,292
— Overseas 1,679 916
— (Over)/under-provision in prior years (46) 524 

8,833 23,268
Deferred tax (Note 16) (21,838) (21,914) 

(13,005) 1,354 

Mainland China corporate income tax and Hong Kong profits tax have been provided at the rates of 25% 
(2020: 25%) and 16.5% (2020: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits respectively. Taxation on 
overseas profits has been calculated on the estimated assessable profits for the year at the applicable 
rates of taxation prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

Reconciliation between accounting loss and tax (credit)/expense:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000 

Loss before income tax
— Continuing operations excluding share of profits of associates (82,951) (83,187)
—  Discontinued operations — (97,271) 

(82,951) (180,458) 

Tax calculated at the rates applicable in the respective jurisdictions (21,311) (30,548)
Tax effects of:
— Non-taxable income and tax concession (9,754) (8,301)
— Non-deductible expenses 9,187 24,676
— Tax losses not recognised 7,804 7,283
— Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses (2,020) (303)
—  Withholding tax on undistributed earnings 1,889 3,747
— (Over)/under-provision in prior years (46) 524
—  Derecognition of previously recognised deferred tax asset — 3,642
— Others 1,246 634 

Tax (credit)/expense (13,005) 1,354 
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24 LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the consolidated loss attributable to equity holders of 
the Company and on the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 1,284,400,000 shares (2020: 
1,284,400,000 shares) in issue during the year.

2021 2020 

Basic loss per share (HK cents)
— Continuing operations (5.2) (6.6)
— Discontinued operations — (11.6) 

(5.2) (18.2) 

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000 

Loss attributable to equity holders of the Company 
— Continuing operations (66,416) (84,669)
— Discontinued operations — (149,152) 

(66,416) (233,821) 

The diluted loss per share for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 are the same as the basic 
loss per share as the potential ordinary shares arising from the share options granted by the Company 
outstanding do not have dilutive effect.

25 DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: 
Nil).
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26 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

 (a) Reconciliation of cash (used in)/generated from operations

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss before income tax
— Continuing operations (82,639) (82,431)
— Discontinued operations — (97,271) 

Loss before income tax including discontinued operations (82,639) (179,702)
Adjustments for:
—  Depreciation and amortisation of property, plant  

and equipment, and leased assets 275,941 295,094
— Amortisation of intangible assets 2,828 4,702
—  Impairment of property, plant and equipment, and leased  

assets, net 6,332 60,019
—  (Write-back of impairment)/impairment of  

trade receivables, net (2,109) 10,527
—  Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment,  

and lease modifications, net (622) (6,740)
— Provision/(write-back of provision) for inventories, net 12,080 (280)
— Finance costs, net 32,074 38,846
— Share of profits of associates (312) (756)
— Impairment of intangible assets, net — 19,984
— Impairment of other receivables, net — 22,587
— Share option expenses — 171

Changes in working capital:
— Inventories (223,096) 136,140
— Trade and bills receivable (89,442) 193,602
— Other receivables and financial assets (28,857) 69,530
— Trade and bills payable 73,610 7,698
— Accruals and other payables (17,559) (41,144) 

Cash (used in)/generated from operations (41,771) 630,278 
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26 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (Continued)

 (b)  Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment, and lease modifications comprise:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Net book amount 17,765 73,108
Lease liabilities (17,951) (56,910)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment, 

and lease modifications 622 6,740 

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment, 
and lease modifications 436 22,938 

 (c) Cash flow information — financing activities

This section sets out the reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities.

Bank 
borrowings

Lease  
liabilities 

Amounts  
due to 

non-controlling 
interests of 
subsidiaries Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2020 1,021,126 406,504 4,900 1,432,530
Cash flows, net (132,629) (149,677) 2,506 (279,800)
Additions of property, plant and 

equipment, and leased assets — 44,999 3,140 48,139
Interest expense on lease — 14,176 — 14,176
Currency translation differences 747 12,467 15 13,229
Disposal of subsidiaries — (4,148) — (4,148)
Lease modifications — (56,910) — (56,910)

At 31 December 2020 and  
1 January 2021 889,244 267,411 10,561 1,167,216

Cash flows, net 52,272 (185,670) (3,109) (136,507)
Additions of property, plant and 

equipment, and leased assets — 225,655 — 225,655
Interest expense on lease — 16,764 — 16,764
Currency translation differences 700 4,333 — 5,033
Lease modifications — (17,951) — (17,951)

At 31 December 2021 942,216 310,542 7,452 1,260,210    
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27 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group is controlled by Quinta Asia Limited (the immediate holding company), a company incorporated 
in the British Virgins Islands, which owns approximately 57.91% of the Company’s shares as at 31 
December 2021. The Company’s directors regard Quinta Asia Limited as being the ultimate controlling 
party.

Apart from those disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the following significant 
transactions were carried out with related parties:

 (a) Transactions with related parties

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000 

Sales of goods
Entities controlled by non-controlling interests of subsidiaries — 397 

Purchases of goods
Major shareholder of an associate of the Group 50,038 30,121
Entities controlled by non-controlling interests of subsidiaries — 133 

50,038 30,254 

Interest income
Non-controlling interest of a subsidiary 208 326
Entity controlled by non-controlling interest of a subsidiary — 72 

208 398 

Lease expenses
An associate of the Group 2,727 2,162 

Goods are sold/purchased at prices mutually agreed by both parties.

Interest income from related parties are charged at prevailing market rates.

Lease expenses are recognised based on monthly rental charge mutually agreed by both parties.

 (b) Year-end balances arising from purchases of goods

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Included in trade payables (Note 13)
Major shareholder of an associate of the Group 15,229 13,322 

All amounts are unsecured, interest-free and payable within normal trade credit terms.
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27 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

 (c) Amounts due from related parties

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Included in other receivables (Note 11)
Receivables from non-controlling interest of a subsidiary 13,392 14,104
Rental deposit to an associate of the Group 484 471 

13,876 14,575 

The receivables from non-controlling interest of a subsidiary are secured by a property held by non-
controlling interest of a subsidiary, interest-bearing at floating rates that are market dependent and 
repayable on demand.

Rental deposit will be refunded at the end of the lease term.

 (d) Amounts due to related parties

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Included in accruals and other payables (Note 14)
Loans from non-controlling interests of subsidiaries 4,312 7,421
Payables to non-controlling interest of a subsidiary 3,140 3,140 

7,452 10,561 

All amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

 (e) Key management compensation

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, bonus and allowances 19,079 15,663
Defined contribution retirement schemes 72 72
Share-based compensation in respect of share options — 171 

19,151 15,906 

 (f)  As at 31 December 2021, the Company granted corporate guarantees of HK$1,494,941,000 (2020: 
HK$1,670,340,000) to certain banks in respect of the banking facilities granted of HK$1,485,041,000 
(2020: HK$1,660,440,000) to its subsidiaries. As at 31 December 2021, the banking facilities utilised 
by the subsidiaries amounted to HK$1,028,457,000 (2020: HK$967,906,000).



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1052021 Annual Report  Win Hanverky Holdings Limited

28 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On 20 August 2020, the Group entered into a sa le and purchase agreement wi th 
one of the other shareholders of e.dye Business and disposed of the 51% equity interest of e.dye 
Business which represented all the interest held by the Group to the shareholder. The transaction was 
completed in August 2020 and e.dye Business was regarded as discontinued operations. Financial 
information relating to the discontinued operations for the period from 1 January to 20 August 2020 is set 
out below.

1 January – 
20 August  

2020
HK$’000

Revenue 26,008
Cost of sales (27,747)

Gross loss (1,739)

Selling and distribution costs (1,964)
General and administrative expenses (18,361)
Other net expenses (Note) (72,480)

Operating loss (94,544)

Finance costs — net (2,727)

Loss before income tax (97,271)

Income tax expense —
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations (7,457)

Loss for the period (104,728)

Loss for the period attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company (149,152)
Non-controlling interests 44,424

(104,728)

Note:

1 January – 
20 August  

2020
HK$’000

Other net expenses
Impairment of assets (73,833)
Net exchange gain 353
Government subsidies 353
Others 647

(72,480)
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28 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

1 January – 
20 August  

2020
HK$’000 

Other comprehensive income
Currency translation differences (644)
Realisation of accumulated exchange differences  

upon disposal of discontinued operations 995

351

Cash flows
Operating cash flows (18,469)
Investing cash flows (453)
Financing cash flows 18,746

(176)

Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging
Cost of inventories 10,114
Processing and subcontracting charges 6,078
Depreciation and amortisation of property, plant and equipment, and leased assets 3,270
Amortisation of intangible assets 1,874
Impairment of, net:
— property, plant and equipment, and leased assets 12,984
— intangible assets 19,984
— trade receivables 6,641
— other receivables 22,587
Provision for inventories, net 11,637
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29  STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE 
COMPANY

 Statement of financial position of the Company

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries 1,626,560 1,525,466
Right-of-use assets 215 323
Deferred tax assets 923 795 

1,627,698 1,526,584 

Current assets
Other receivables 220 581
Current tax recoverables — 187
Cash and bank balances 785 86,891 

1,005 87,659 

Current liabilities
Accruals and other payables 8,367 8,147
Lease liabilities 111 108 

8,478 8,255 

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities 115 227  

Net assets 1,620,110 1,605,761 

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company
Share capital 128,440 128,440
Reserves 1,491,670 1,477,321 

Total equity 1,620,110 1,605,761 

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved by the Company’s Board of Directors 
on 24 March 2022 and were signed on its behalf.

LI Kwok Tung Roy LAI Ching Ping
Director Director
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29  STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE 
COMPANY (Continued)

 Reserve movements of the Company

Share 
premium

Share-based 
payment 

reserve
Contributed 

surplus
Retained 
earnings Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2020 692,227 10,301 528,331 231,009 1,461,868
Profit for the year — — — 15,282 15,282
Employee share option scheme
— value of services provided — 171 — — 171

A1 31 December 2020 and  
1 January 2021 692,227 10,472 528,331 246,291 1,477,321

Profit for the year — — — 14,349 14,349     

At 31 December 2021 692,227 10,472 528,331 260,640 1,491,670     

30 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had no material contingent liabilities (2020: Nil).

31 COMMITMENTS

 (a) Capital commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not yet provided for is as 
follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Capital injection in subsidiaries 130,045 146,689
Property, plant and equipment 5,599 7,195 

 (b) Lease commitments

At 31 December 2021, the total future lease payments for leases committed but not yet 
commenced in relation to leased properties were HK$15,340,000 (2020: HK$13,401,000).
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32 NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

 (a) Disposal of a subsidiary

On 28 January 2022, the Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement with a third party 
(the “Purchaser”) in relation to the disposal of the entire issued share capital of Winning Castle 
Limited (the “Target Company”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and the assignment of 
the entire amount due and owing by the Target Company to the Purchaser, at an aggregate 
consideration of HK$39,800,000. The Target Company was principally engaged in property holding in 
Hong Kong and its principal asset was a property which was used as the Group’s warehouse.

The transaction was completed on 18 March 2022 and it is expected that the Group will recognise 
a gain (before taxation) of approximately HK$14,434,000 in the year ending 31 December 2022.

 (b) Extension of lease contract

On 15 March 2022, Premier Global (Vietnam) Garment Company Limited (the “Tenant”), an indirect 
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a lease extension addendum (“Lease 
Extension Addendum”) with a third party (the “Landlord”) for certain non-core factories in Binh 
Duong Province, Vietnam (“Leased Premises”) for a term of 2 years from 2 April 2022 to 1 April 
2024 (both dates inclusive) as the existing lease contract of the Leased Premises will expire on 1 
April 2022. The Leased Premises have being used by the Group since 2014 and would continue to 
be used by the Group as one of its production bases in Vietnam.

The Group will re-measure the carrying amounts of the right-of-use asset and related lease liability in 
its consolidated statement of financial position in connection with the Lease Extension Addendum to 
reflect this lease modification. At the effective date of the Lease Extension Addendum (i.e. the date 
of the Lease Extension Addendum), the Group will recognise the increment of the carrying amount 
of the lease liability after the modification as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset of 
approximately HK$36,400,000.
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33  BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY 
SECTION 383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP. 622) AND 
COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF 
DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING RULES)

The remuneration of every director and the chief executive is set out below:

2021 2020 

Name Fees

Salaries  
and other 

allowances

Employer’s
contribution

to retirement
schemes

Share-based
compensation

in respect of
share options Total Fees

Salaries  
and other 

allowances

Employer’s
contribution

to retirement
schemes

Share-based
compensation
in respect of

share options Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

Executive directors
Li Kwok Tung Roy — 4,883 — — 4,883 — 4,360 — — 4,360
Lai Ching Ping — 4,132 — — 4,132 — 3,689 — — 3,689
Lee Kwok Leung (chief executive) — 3,360 18 — 3,378 — 3,000 18 — 3,018
Wong Chi Keung — 2,641 18 — 2,659 — 2,375 18 171 2,564

Independent non-executive 
directors

Chan Ka Kui 160 — — — 160 140 — — — 140
Kwan Kai Cheong 240 — — — 240 210 — — — 210
Ma Ka Chun 160 — — — 160 140 — — — 140
Chan Kwong Fai  

(resigned on 20 January 2022) 160 — — — 160 140 — — — 140     

720 15,016 36 — 15,772 630 13,424 36 171 14,261     

No remunerations were paid or receivable in respect of accepting office as directors during the year 
ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

No directors waived any emoluments during the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

No emoluments were paid or receivable in respect of directors’ other services in connection with the 
management of affairs of the Company or its subsidiary undertakings during the year ended 31 December 
2021 (2020: Nil).

There are no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of the directors, their controlled bodies 
corporate and connected entities (2020: Nil).

Except disclosed above, no directors of the Company had a material interest, directly or indirectly, in any 
significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Company’s business to which the 
Company was or is a party that subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year (2020: 
Nil).
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34 SUBSIDIARIES

 The following are details of principal subsidiaries, all of which are unlisted, as at 31 December 2021:

Name

Place of  
incorporation and  
type of legal entity

Particulars of issued 
share capital

Percentage of equity 
interest attributable  

to the Group
Principal activities and  
place of operation

2021 2020

Bowker Asia Limited British Virgin Islands,  
limited liability company

US$100 100% 100% Trading of garment 
products/ 
Hong Kong

Bowker Garment Factory (Cambodia) 
Company Limited

Cambodia,  
limited liability company

US$10,000,000 100% 100% Manufacturing of garment 
products/Cambodia

Bowker Garment Investment (Cambodia) 
Company Limited

Cambodia,  
limited liability company

KHR22,000,000,000 100% 100% Property holding/
Cambodia

Bowker Venture Garment (Yunfu) 
Company Limited 

Mainland China,  
wholly foreign  
owned enterprise

HK$94,279,000 100% 100% Manufacturing of  
garment products/ 
Mainland China

Bowker (Vietnam) Garment Factory 
Company Limited

Vietnam,  
limited liability company

US$13,000,000 100% 100% Manufacturing of garment 
products/Vietnam

Bowker Yee Sing Garment Factory 
(Heyuan) Company Limited

Mainland China,  
wholly foreign  
owned enterprise

HK$148,557,000 85% 85% Manufacturing of  
garment products/ 
Mainland China

Bowker (Vinh Long) Garment Factory 
Company Limited

Vietnam, 
limited liability company

US$4,000,000 100% 100% Property holding/Vietnam

Bright Global (Vinh Long) Garment 
Factory Company Limited

Vietnam, 
limited liability company

US$3,000,000 100% 100% Property holding/Vietnam

Corus Investments Limited Hong Kong,  
limited liability company

HK$10,000
(Note (i))

100% 100% Property holding/ 
Hong Kong

D-mop Limited Hong Kong,  
limited liability company

HK$1,000,000 100% 97% Retailing of fashion 
products/ 
Hong Kong

Kepac Trading (Hangzhou) Limited Mainland China,  
wholly foreign  
owned enterprise

HK$5,000,000 100% 97% Retailing of fashion 
products/ 
Mainland China

Premier Global (Vietnam) Garment 
Company Limited

Vietnam, 
limited liability company

US$3,500,000 100% 100% Manufacturing of garment 
products/Vietnam

Sport Field Limited Hong Kong, 
limited liability company

HK$2,475,000 60% 60% Trading of garment 
products/ 
Hong Kong

Winning Best Limited Hong Kong,  
limited liability company

HK$1
(Note (i))

100% 100% Property holding/ 
Hong Kong

Winning Castle Limited Hong Kong,  
limited liability company

HK$1
(Note (i))

100% 100% Property holding/ 
Hong Kong

Notes:

(i) The shares of these companies are directly held by the Company.

(ii) None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at any time during the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: None).

The English names of certain subsidiaries represent the best effort by management of the Group to 
translate their Chinese names as they do not have official English names.

The directors are of the opinion that the non-controlling interests in respect of the non-wholly owned 
subsidiaries are not material to the Group. Accordingly, summarised financial information of the 
subsidiaries that have non-controlling interests is not presented. 



Glossary

112 2021 Annual Report  Win Hanverky Holdings Limited

In this annual report, unless the context states otherwise, the following expression have the following meanings:

“Board” the board of Directors

“Company” Win Hanverky Holdings Limited, an exempted company incorporated in the 
Cayman Islands with limited liability on 13 December 2005

“Director(s)” the director(s) of the Company

“Group” or “we” or “our”  
or “us”

the Company and its subsidiaries

“Hong Kong” the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of Mainland China

“Listing Rules” the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong 
Kong Limited

“Main Board” the stock market operated by the Stock Exchange prior to the establishment of 
the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange (excluding the options 
market) and which stock market continues to be operated by the Stock Exchange 
in parallel with the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange (for 
avoidance of doubt, the Main Board excludes the Growth Enterprise Market of the 
Stock Exchange)

“Mainland China” the People’s Republic of China, excluding Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan

“OEM” acronym for original equipment manufacturing, a business that manufactures or 
purchases from other manufacturers and possibly modifies goods or equipment 
for branding and resale by others

“RMB” Renminbi, the lawful currency of Mainland China

“Share(s)” the share(s) of HK$0.10 each in the share capital of the Company

“Shareholders” shareholders of the Company

“Shine Gold” Shine Gold Limited, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company

“Shine Gold Group” Shine Gold and its subsidiaries

“Sport Field” Sport Field Limited, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company

“Sport Field Group” Sport Field and its subsidiaries

“Stock Exchange” the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hong 
Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited

“US” the United States of America



2021 A
N

N
U

A
L R

EPO
R

T

2021ANNUAL REPORT


	Cover
	Inside Front Cover
	Contents
	Corporate Information
	Financial Highlights
	Chairman’s Statement
	Management Discussion and Analysis
	Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
	Corporate Governance Report
	Report of the Directors
	Independent Auditor’s Report
	Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
	Consolidated Income Statement
	Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
	Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
	Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
	Glossary
	Back Cover

